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Preféce.

One who was born in the Shenandoah Valley, who has
dwelt there during the greater portion of his life to the present,
~and who is by blood three-fourths German or German-Swiss,

may doubtless be excused for writing about the German Ele-
ment in the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia. He may also
be excused, perhaps, for regarding such a subject as naturally
attractive, and for believing that it is well worthy of careful
investigation. As a matter of fact, the field has proved most

/7 fruitful: so much so that the writer has been surprised at the

abundance and wealth of material that may be secured for
historical, economical, sociological, political, religious, linguis-
tic, and even literary studies. He hastens to say, however,
for the reassurance of the reader, that he has not attempted
to follow out all these lines of investigation in the present
treatise: what he has attempted is merely a plain, unvarnished
picture of the people in their homes, in their churches, in their
schools, in their fields and workshops, and in the larger re-
lations of church and state as affected by peace and war. As.
preliminary to this picture, a brief account of the exploration
and settlement of the country has been deemed necessary and
appropriate.

In addition to a natural inclination toward the subject in
hand, the writer has felt in some measure what he is pleased
to call a sense of duty. It is a patent fact that the German
/¥ element in Virginia—and that chiefly means the Germans in
northwestern Virginia—is a subject that has received but
slight attention, either in the thought and literature of our
larger Virginia, or in the thought and concern of the German
clement itself. And the fact is not singular. The prevailing
element of our State is English; our language is English:
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and not even a German would have it anything else: hence
our books and our thought are English and of England. So
the fact is not singular that the German element of the Valley
of Virginia and adjacent sections should be overlooked in the
more familiar life and interests of the larger part. It is only
analogous to the larger fact in our country as a whole. The
German fifth or fourth of our American nation is often for-
gotten—we love old England so well. And yet the student
at least should not be so forgetful—he loves the German
schools too well. Hugo Miinsterberg is reported as saying
that the German and American nations are more alike, in mind
and temperament, than any other two nations of earth, and
must eventually adopt the same form of civilization and gov-
ernment.! We hesitate to accept this statement in its en-
tirety, because Miinsterberg is a German, and Germans are
apt to be enthusiastic; but we do put a good deal of confidence
in what Andrew D. White says; for he is one of us. Mr.
White says: “Although Great Britain is generally honored as
the mother of the United States, Germany has, from an intel-
lectual standpoint, become more and more the second mother
of the United States. More than any other country, Germany
has made the universities and colleges of America what they
are to-day—a powerful force in the development of American
civilization.”? In view of these facts, therefore, the writer
feels like saying a word for his own kind and to them. He is
gratified, moreover, to observe a gradual awakening of con-
science, so to speak, among them. A few have always kept
the faith, and have tried to keep the language, though against
overwhelming odds; but lately—and this is the gratifying fact
—many of the young men and women of the Valley of Vir-
ginia, in whose families the language and literature of the

Fatherland have been practically dead for two or three genera-
tions, are now turning back to them in their courses of higher

1The Inglenook, Elgin, Ill, of recent date.
2Report of U. S. Commissioner of Education, 1901, vol. I, p. 543.
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PREFACE. v

education, and are taking up for their own accomplishment
and culture what their great-grandfathers and great-grand-
mothers tried to get rid of as soon as possible, in order to be
like other people.

In enumerating the sources from which the facts presented
in this treatise have heen gathered, the writer ventures to men-
tion first his own life and experience among the people of
whom he writes, together with a first-hand acquziintance—-
often familiarity—with nearly every locality named. For defi-
nite facts of time and place, relating to the early settlements,
the archives of the several counties of the Valley and adjacent
sections have been consulted: namely, in the order of their
organized establishment, Spottsylvania (1721), Orange
(1734), Frederick (1743), Augusta (1745), Shenandoah
(1772), Rockingham (1778). In Rockingham County many
of the earliest records were destroyed, or partly destroyed, by
fire during the Civil War; but the burnt records have many
of them been restored to a serviceable form. In Spottsylvania
County, also, the records suffered considerably, if not from
hostile soldiery, at least from the “underground” methods
necessary for their hiding. Although the valley of the Shen-
andoah was first settled while the district was still a part of
Spottsylvania County, I have not been able to find any refer-
ences in the records of this county to persons or places in the
Valley. There are, however, frequent entries referring to the
Germans of Germanna; to some that must have lived in the
territory now constituting Madison County; as well as to a
few that seem to have been locating about Fredericksburg.
In the counties of Orange, Frederick, Augusta, and Shenan-
doah the records, at least of deeds and wills, are complete,
almost without exception. Many of the original documents
in these counties were written and presented in German script;
and I am told that in Frederick County some of them, like
so many German family names, have suffered not a little in the
translation and transcription by English clerks; and I have no
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A1 PREFACE,

doubt that the same is true to a greater or less degree in the
other counties also.

As sources for the earliest history of the Valley, I have
found most valuable a series of documents edited and an-
notated by Mr. Charles E. Kemper of Washington City, and
published during the past year or two in the Virginia Maga-
sine of History and Biography: “The Early Westward Move-
ment of Virginia, 1722-1734, As Shown by the Proceedings
of the Colonial Council.” These documents, together with the
series of Moravian Diaries covering some ten years in the mid-
dle of the eighteenth century, translated from the German and
annotated by Mr. Kemper and Prof. William J. Hinke of
Philadelphia, and published recently in the same magazine,
furnish a substantial basis for the historical study of begin-
nings in the Valley section. Hening’s Statutes at Large have
been found a rich storehouse of facts and figures for the first
three-quarters of a century of Valley history. These, together
with Palmer’s Calendar of Virginia State Papers, Stanard’s
Virginia Colonial Register, and Kennedy’s Journals of the
House of Burgesses, have heen freely consulted. Among the
many other publications that have been found helpful, two
must be mentioned here: John Lederer’s Journal, translated
by Sir Willam Talbot and printed first in London in 1672;
and Prof. I. D. Rupp’s Collection of Thirty Thousand Names
of German, Swiss, Dutch, and other Immigrants to Philadel-
phia, from 1727 to 1776.

All of the publications ahove mentioned will be found enu-
merated and briefly described in the appended Bibliography.
To this bibliography special attention is invited. In it two
things have been attempted : first, an atonement for the neces-
sary brevity of this treatise; second, some real help in practi-
cal form to those who may wish to follow out the present
subject in any particular lines. It is hoped that the latter ob-
ject at least may be regarded as in some measure accomplished.

Among the individuals in different parts of the country
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who have given valuable assistance in the preparation of this
monograph, I gratefully mention the following :

Rev. Dr. D. M. Gilbert, deceased, Harrisburg, Pa.; Mr. J.
G. Rosengarten, Philadelphia; Bishop L. J. Heatwole Dale
Enterprise, Va.; Mrs. Charles G. Johnson, Radford, Va.;
Mr. Charles E. Kemper, Washington City; Mr. Elon O.
Henkel and Mr. Ambrose L. Henkel, New Market, Va.; Mr.
A. H. Snyder, Harrisonburg, Va.; Dr. 'H. J. Eckenrode,
R1chmond Va.; Dr. B. W. Gleen, University of Virginia;
Mr. D. S. LCWIS, Harrisonburg, Va.; Hon. J. A. Waddell,
Staunton, Va.; Pres. George H. Denny, Washington and Lee
University; Dr. W. H. Ruffner, Lexington, Va.; Gen. Gilbert
S. Meem, Seattle, Wash.; Eld. J. H. Moore, Eldm Il ; Col.
S. R. Millar, Front Royal Va.; Maj. R. W. Hunter, R1c11-
mond, Va.; Hon. A. C. Gordon, Staunton, Va.; Miss Sarah
M. Spengler, Front Royal, Va.; Mr. E. Ruebush, Dayton, Va.;
Dr. J. L. Miller, Thomas, W. Va.: The A. S. Abell Company,
Baltimore; Mr. W. G. Stanard, Richmond, Va.; Mr. W. H.
Sipe, Bridgewater, Va.; Mr. T. K. Cartmell, W inchester, Va.;
Hon. J. G. Neff, Mt. Jackson, Va.; Mr. Samuel Forrer, Mossy
Creek, Va.; Prof. J. Carson Mlller Moore’s Store, Va.; Gen.
John E. Roller, Harrisonburg, Va.; Capt. J. H. Grabill, Wood-
stock, Va.; Rev. S. L. Bowman, Daphna, Va. “Dr Thom'ls
Walker. Page Umver31ty of Vucrmla Mr. John Van Horne,
Charlottesviile, Va.

As opportunity is afforded in the succeeding pages, I shall
gladly make§ specific acknowledgment to as many as possible
of the more than one hundred other persons who have con-
tributed facts, either personally or in writing.

It is with special gratitude that I acknowledge in this place
my indebtedness to my honored friend and teacher, Professor
Richard Heath Dabney, of the University of Virginia; who,
at no time during the past seven years, has failed to respond
readily and liberally to my every call upon his scholarship and
my every claim upon his friendship; whose mature and even
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VIII PREFACE.

judgment has repeatedly been an aid and a guide in the diffi-
cult field of historical research, and whose broad and
thorough learning has been a constant inspiration.

If an appendix may be allowed in a preface, it may be worth
while to state here that in the course of the preparation of
this monograph a great many particular facts of interest have
been collected concerning a number of the German families
of the Valley of Virginia. It was a first intention to include
these notes in this publication; but that procedure, owing to
the considerable bulk of the material in question, has been
deemed impracticable. If conditions appear to warrant the
undertaking, these collections may be enlarged and published
independently at a subsequent period.

J. W. WAYLAND.
University of Virginia,
February 27, 1907.
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CHAPTER 1

THE SHENANDOAH VALLEY OF VIRGINIA:
A GrocraPHICAL OUTLINE.

The great Valley of Virginia lies near the present north-
western border of the State, between the Blue Ridge and the
first ranges of the Alleghanies. Its total length, measured
trom the Potomac River at Harpers Ferry southwest to the
line of Tennessee, is upwards of 300 miles; its average width
is twenty-five or thirty miles. About midway, that is, near
the line between the counties of Rockbridge and Botetourt,
the Valley is cut across by the James River, flowing east-
ward; sixty miles further southwest, by the New River,
flowing westward. Some forty miles northeast from the
transection of the James, the headwaters of the Shenandoah
rise and flow northeastward 140 miles into the Potomac,
parallel with and between the Alleghanies and the Blue Ridge,
draining the counties of Augusta, Rockingham, Shenandoah,
Page and Warren, Frederick and Clarke, of Virginia; with
Berkeley and Jefferson of West Virginia. These nine coun-
ties named, beginning with Augusta, form the Shenandoah
Valley of Virginia.

The Shenandoah River joins the Potomac at IHarpers
Ferry. If one should ascend its channel from the mouth, he
would find that for forty miles or so, to Riverton in Warren
County, it washes the western base of the Blue Ridge. Then
its course shifts slightly to the west, and its waters are di-
vided by an isolated wedge of mountain, fifty miles long,
known as the Massanutten Range, which, at a distance of
six or eight miles, parallels the Blue Ridge along the greater
length of Warren County, the whole length of Page, and
half way into Rockingham. If one could look down upon
the Valley from an eyry in a cloud, the oblong expanse below,
bordered by its tiers of mountains, might suggest an immense




2 THE VALLEY GERMANS.

hippodrome, or circus; only the Titanic spina—the Massa-
nutten Mountain—would not be found quite midway between
the sides, but a little nearer the eastern border. Turning the
figure into fact, we find it true and real: the Shenandoah
Valley has been the race course of giants, and the Massa-
nutten Mountain was more than once the wall of separation
about which the contests were waged.

The two great branches of the Shenandoah River go
sluggishly to their meeting point at Riverton, in many a
sinuous fold on either side of the Massanutten Mountain.
The north branch washes the northwestern base of the Mas-
sanutten throughout the entire length of Shenandoah County,
after having struggled out with some haste through Brocks
Gap from its sources in the mountains of western Rocking-
ham. The main river—the south branch of the Shenandoal,
or simply the “South River’—washes the Massanutten on
the southeastern side, from the point in Rockingham at which
the mountain rises up out of the plain with a suddenness
that is equalled only by the abruptness with which it drops
off into the plain at Strasburg and Riverton. The South
River heads mainly in Augusta County, combining the three
forks known respectively as South River, North River, and
Middle River. North River and Middle River join on the
line between Augusta and Rockingham, near the village of
Mt. Meridian; together they flow on three miles and then
join the South River at Port Republic, in Rockingham
County; and thence the mingled waters continue in their
course to the line between Rockingham and Page, where
they come under the afternoon shadows of the Massanutten
Mountain; to Riverton, where they receive the washings
from the western side of the Massanutten in the waters of
the North Branch; thence, under the morning shadows of
the Blue Ridge, to the Potomac at Harpers Ferry.!

1. In connection with this account of the Shenandoah Valley and
River, it may be worth while to tabulate some of the different forms
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A GEOGRAPHICAL OUTLINE. 3

The Potomac River (Cohongoruton) flows across the
Shenandoah Valley and bounds it on the northeast; and at
the northeast corner of the Valley the Shenandoah River
meets the Potomac at right angles. Out in the valley ten
miles, parallel to the Shenandoah, is Opequon Creek; on
another parallel line, ten miles further toward the Alleghany
ranges, is Back Creek. These two creeks also meet the gens
eral course of the Potomac at right angles, and drain the
lower end of the Valley. The Massanutten Mountain is cleft
throughout the lower half of its length—the part toward
Strasburg and Riverton; and out of the narrow valley or
gorge between its long parallel walls, known as Powell’s
Fort, flows Passage Creek, joining the north branch of the
Shenandoah River about four miles above Riverton. Almost
opposite the mouth of Passage Creek, Cedar Creek joins the
north branch of the river from the other side, after having
marked the dividing line for the greater distance between
the counties of Frederick and Shenandoah, and for a little

in which the name “Shenandoah” has been found, namely: Chana-
dor, Chanetor, Chanithor, Gerando, Gerundo, Scandar, Schanathor,
Shanando, Shanidore, Shannando, Shannandoah, Sharrandoa, Shen-
andoare, Sherandoah, Sherrendo, Sherundo, Sherundore, Thanadore,
Tschanator, Zynodoa. One might almost conclude that we have
here a series of attempts to demonstrate the law of permutations,
could he only escape the suspicion that it is chiefly a case of bad
spelling. Doubtless, to make the matter worse, imperfect pronun-
ciation and defective hearing often contributed. For example, a
German soldier in the British service during the Revolution—or as
much of it as he was allowed to participate in—wrote in his diary of
wading through the river “Scandar or Jonathan” on the way across
the Valley to ‘Winchester. The same writer puts the Rappahannock
down as the “Krappa Hannah,” and the Potomac as the “Bett
Thommak.” (Popp’s Journal, pp. 24, 25.) On the north branch of
the Shenandoah, in what is now Shenandoah County, a tribe of
Indians, called the Senedos, are said to have lived in early times.
It seems probable that they took their name from the river and
adjacent country, or that the latter were named from this Indian
tribe; though otltl‘er derivations for the term “Slhenandoah" are

>y
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4 THE VALLEY GERMANS.

way between Shenandoah and Warren. Four more consid-
erable streams enter the north branch, or “Little Shenan-
doah,” much further up its course: Stony Creek near Edin-
burg and Mill Creek near Mt. Jackson, both from the west;
Smiths Creek near Mt. Jackson and Linville Creek at Broad-
way, both from the east. One of the principal tributaries
to the South River is the Hawksbill Creek, flowing in from
the eastern side, near Luray. The Norfolk & Western Rail-
way follows the general course of the main river throughout
the Valley; the Baltimore & Ohio Railway and the cele-
brated Valley Turnpike follow the line of the Little Shenan-
doah, and extend beyond it north and south. .

In early times “South Mountain” was the name applied to
the Blue Ridge in the upper Valley, southeast of the Massa-
nutten range; and the latter, in consequence, is referred to
in some of the old deeds as the “North Mountain,” Latterly,
however, “North Mountain” is the name applied to one of
the great ranges on the northwestern border of the Valley.
From an early period to the present, the abrupt southwest
end of the Massanutten range, near Harrisonburg in Rock-
ingham County, has been called “Peaked Mountain”: va-
riously corrupted into “Pickett,” “Pinquet,” etc. The term
Massanutten, or “Massanutting,” etc., has been applied from
very early times to a small district at the eastern foot of the
mountain of the same name, and to a small stream that drains
the section and flows into South River several miles above
the mouth of the Hawksbill. “Massanutting” seems also to
have been the name applied occasionally to the whole of the
larger district between the Massanutten Mountain and the
Blue Ridge, roughly identical with what is now Page County.

In geological formation, the greater part of the Shenandoah
Valley is what is known as Lower Silurian. Most of the
soil is of the limestone variety, with occasional stretches of
sand or gravel, and now and then a ledge of slate. One of
the most notable of the last is found in the lower Valley, on
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a line of continuation from the end of the Massanutten range
ty the Potomac River. This tract of slate, drained chiefly by
the Opequon Creek, is six or eight miles wide and over forty
miles long. It has been suggested by scientists that this
region of slate was once covered by a mountain, which in
ages past was razed by some convulsion of nature or abraded
by less violent but more persistent processes. It is well
known, of course, that in the opinion of many the whole
lower Valley was once a great lake, until the pent up waters
burst through the mountain walls at Harper's Ferry and
escaped, leaving only the rivers to follow and mark the course
they took.

It appears to be a well established fact that in early times

" much of the Valley was a prairie. Kercheval says, “This
region, * * * when the country was first known to the

white people, was one entire and beautiful prairie, with the
exception of narrow fringes of timber immediately bordering
on the water courses.”? According to Bishop Meade, parts
of the Valley were prairie in early days,® and other sections
were covered only by a growth of small saplings. Foote
records that much of the Valley “was covered with prairies
abounding in tall grass, and these, with the scattered forests,
were filled with pea vines”; and that “much of the beautiful
timber in the valley has grown since the immigrants chose
their habitations.”* Confirmation of these statements will
be found in a less familiar but no less credible quarter
further on.

The Valley abounds in beautiful landscapes and wonders
of nature. The water gap at Harper’s Ferry and the gorge
of Powell’'s Fort are justly celebrated. The Natural Chim-
neys of Augusta County and the Narrow Passage of Shenan-

2. History of the Valley, 3d edition, p. 312.
3. Old Churches, Etc, Vol. II, p. 279.
4, Foote’s Sketches, p. 15.
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doah are no less remarkable, if less imposing. There are
caverns of rare beauty and grandeur in the vicinity of both
Harrisonburg and New Market ; and at Luray and Shendun
are the Luray Caverns and Weyer’s Cave, two natural won-
ders of almost world-wide renown. The Luray Caverns. in
a hill between the Hawksbill Creek and the South River,
were discovered first about the year 1793, by a son of Joseph
Ruffner, the owner of the land; Weyer’s Cave, in a bluff on
the Mohler farm, on the west bank of the same river, thirty-
odd miles farther up its course, was found in the year 1804
by Bernard Weyer. The Ruffners, the Mohlers, and Bernard

Weyer, it may not be impertinent to remark here, were all
Germans.




CHAPTER II
Tur First WHITE MEN IN THE VALLEY.

On a summer’s day in the year 1716, Governor Alexander
Spotswood, with a party of twenty or thirty horsemen, set
cut from Williamsburg, the capital of the Virginia colony,
to ascertain for himself what sort of country lay west and
north of the great “Blue Mountains.” There was good rea-
son to believe that several Indian tribes of uncertain friend-
ship might be found there; and who else or what else nobody
seemed quite certain, save the ignorant and superstitious,
who declared that there were monsters and mysteries nu-
merous and dreadful enough. The Governor may have had
predominantly in mind objects much more commonplace and
practical than the simple clearing up of superstitions and

.mysteries. Doubtless the elements of romance and danger

afforded a considerable stimulus toward a jaunt; but he must
have been seriously in earnest about something, to undertake
an expedition of nearly two hundred miles up country, past
the very frontiers and into the wilderness.! At any rate he
came, and a gallant company with him. They crossed the
Blue Ridge, probably by Swift Run Gap, into what is now the
county of Rockingham; and one day early in September
watered their horses in the Shenandoah River—the “Eu-
phrates,” they called it. They may have gone across the
Valley to the first ranges of the Alleghanies; but this point

1, In a letter to the London Board of Trade, August 14, 1718,
Governor Spotswood said: ‘“The chief aim of my expedition over
the great mountains, in 1716, was to satisfye myself whether it was
practicable to come at the lakes.”—Waddell’s Annals of Augusta,
pp. 19, 20—TIt was a delusion of the time that the lakes of Canada
were just a little way beyond the Blue Ridge, and many attempts
were made to find a “northwest passage” through the mountains to
them.
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does not seem quite definitely settled. Somewhere, on a couple
cf prominent peaks of either the Alleghanies or the DBlue
Ridge, they went through a formal ceremony of drinking
King George’s health in nobody knows how many kinds of
wine;®> and, upon their return, endeavored to provide for
the perpetual commemoration of their achievements in the
order of the “Knights of the Golden Horseshoe.”

Governor Spotswood is usually regarded as the first white
man to look upon the great Valley of Virginia; and yet
Governor Spotswood himself tells of other Europeans who
saw it six years earlier. Writing on December 15, 1710, to
the London Council of Trade, he says that a company of
adventurers reached the mountains “not above a hundred
miles from our upper inhabitants, and went up to the top of
the highest mountain with their horses, tho’ they had hitherto
been thought to be unpassable, and they assured me that ye
descent on the other side seemed to be as easy as that they had
passed on this, and that they could have passed over the whole
ledge (which is not large), if the season of the year had not
been too far advanced before they set out on that expe-
dition.”®

These men are supposed to have ascended the Blue Ridge
somewhere near the James River Gap, and to have looked
upon the Valley from the vicinity of Balcony Falls; though
ro description is given of the country seen by them.*

2, TFontaine, the historian of the party, says: “We had a good
dinner, and after it we got the men together and loaded all their
arms, and we drank the King's health in champagne and fired a
volley, the Princess’s health in Burgundy and fired a volley, and all
the rest of the royal family in claret and a volley,. We drank the
Governor’s health and fired another volley. We had several sorts
of liquors, viz: Virginia red wine and white wine, Irish usquebaugh,
brandy, shrub, two sorts of rum, champagne, canary, cherry punch,
cider, &c.”

3. Spotswood Letters, Vol. I, p. 40.
4. Waddell's Annals of Augusta, p. 17.




THE FIRST WHITE MEN,

Half a century earlier still, further to the southwest, other
white men had penetrated and probably crossed the Valley.
In 1634, Colonel Abraham Wood, who lived near or at the
site of the present city of Petersburg, first discovered and
named New River, going through the Blue Ridge probably
by the way of “Wood's Gap,” near the line between Virginia
and North Carolina® Between 1666 and 1670, Captain
Henry Batte, with fourteen white men and fourteen Indians,
started from Appomattox and, crossing the Blue Ridge, fol-
lowed the New River some distance; likely going by the same
route as Colonel Wood.®

But it may fairly be said that these men, particularly Wood
and Batte, do not properly belong to the explorers of the
Shenandoah Valley. Even the party that gazed down from
the heights above Balcony Falls in 1710 did not look upon
the Valley of the Shenandoah: they too were far to the
southwest of it. Even yet, therefore, we might reserve the
place of pre-eminence for the gallant Governor, were it not
for a few stubborn facts and a “Dutchman” or two.

In the year 1722, Michael Wohlfarth, a German sectarian,
visited Conrad Beissel, the famous Pennsylvania mystic, at
the Miihlbach, while on a journey to North Carolina by way
of the Valley of Virginia.” In 1705, the General Assembly of
Virginia passed an act encouraging trade with the Indians;
and, among other things, it was provided that any person
who should make discovery of “any town or nation of In-
dians, situated or inhabiting to the westward of or between
the Appalatian Mountains,” should enjoy for the space of
fourteen years the exclusive right to trade with them.® On

5. Hale’s Trans-Alleghany Pioneers, pp. 20, 21

6. Idem, pp. 21, 22; John Esten Cook’s History of Virginia,
p. 234—In 1671 Batte and others seem to have reached the falls of
the Great Kanawha.—Lewis' Handbook of West Virginia, pp. 29, 30.

7. Sachse’s German Sectarians, Vol II, p. 332.

8. Hening's Statutes, Vol. III, pp. 468, 469.
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October 10, 1704, Dr. John Kelpius, a religious leader re-
siding near Philadelphia, wrote a letter of twenty-two pages
in German to Maria Elizabeth Gerber, in Virginia.? These
facts make it not improbable that there were white settlers,
or at least explorers, traders, or missionaries, in the Shenan-
doah Valley much earlier than is generally supposed. The
Act of Assembly in 1705 ought certainly to have urged some
hardy adventurer across the Blue Ridge long before Spots-
wood came. And besides, the question arises, where was
Maria Elizabeth Gerber, the disciple of Kelpius, in 1704?
Can we locate her in eastern Virginia? Dr. Julius F. Sachse
thinks that the great valleys west of the Blue Ridge were
known to the Germans of Pennsylvania and Maryland long
before they were known to the English.?® And it is hard to
believe that Wollfarth would have chosen . the Shenandoah
Valley for his line of travel to North Carolina in 1722, if
there had been no white settlers from one end of the 300-mile
stretch to the other. And yet we are left uncertain in the
midst of many possibilities. Maria Elizabeth Gerber may
have been, and probably was, either permanently or tran-
siently in eastern Virginia;'* the Act of 1705 may have been
too weak to drive even the knights of trade into the hardships

9. Sachse’s German Pietists, p. 226.
10. Sachse’s German Sectarians, Vol. II, p. 333.

11, Under date of February 10, 1907, Dr. Sachse writes me as
follows:—"“In reply to your letter of 28 ult,, will say there is nothing
to indicate where Elizabeth Gerber was located—as you will see from
my foot note, p. 37, in Falckner's Curieuse Nachricht von Penn-
sylvania, 1700. There were German settlements in Virginia prior
to the beginning of the XVIII century, as per MSS. Petrus Schaffer,
1699. I have in my collection two old maps, one French, date 1687,
which gives the location of the German settlement at the head
waters of the Rappahannock; also an English map of the same
period (n. d.), which marks the same location ‘Teutsche Staat.’ On
this map another location on the head waters of the James is marked
‘Meister Krugs plantasie’ I have no doubt that this map offers a
solution, partial at least, to the location of some Germans in Old
Virginia.”
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and dangers and uncertain terrors beyond the great moun-
tains; and Wohlfarth may have traversed the Valley in 1722
alone; with a friend or two; or making his friends as he
found them among the savage tribes.

But there is another person of whom we may speak with
the greater assurance of more complete knowledge: one who
likely was, so far as we now know, the first white man to
cross the Blue Ridge; and the first also, doubtless, to look
upon the fair valley of the Shenandoah. In the year 1669,
the same in which La Salle came down to the falls of the
Ohio, and ten years before he set out from Canada to com-
plete the work of Joliet and Marquette, and find the mouth of
the Mississippi; twelve years before Penn’s “Holy Experi-
ment” in the forests west of the Delaware; and forty-seven
years before Spotswood and the Knights of the Golden
Horseshoe crossed the Blue Ridge, he came to the Valley,
crossed it, mapped it, and described it, together with other
sections east, south, and southwest. This man’s name was
John Lederer; and he was a German.

But little is known of John Lederer, except that he is said
to have been once a Franciscan monk;? and he was evi-
dently a man of some learning. He was commissioned by
Governor Sir William Berkeley, to make explorations; and
under this commission he made, from March, 1669, to Sep-
tember, 1670, three distinct tours or “marches,” on two of
which he crossed the Valley; on the other he went far into
the southwest, possibly into the present boundaries of North
Carolina and Tennessee. Soon after his return from the
third expedition, he was forced to leave Virginia: because,
he says, of the jealousy and misrepresentation of those he
had outdone in the work of exploration; because, it may be,
of debt.?* Probably race prejudice was a factor in the case,

12. J. G. Rosengarten, in Lippincott’s Magazine, April, 1902.

18, Virginia Magazine of History and Biography, Vol. VIII, p.
324; Vol. X, p. 112
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whatever may have been the conditions in other matters.
Upon leaving Virginia Lederer went to Maryland, where,
under the friendship and patronage of Sir William Talbot,
the governor of the colony, he prepared a map of the districts
he had explored, and wrote out in Latin an accompanying
account of his adventures and observations. Talbot translated
this journal into English and had it published, with the map,
in London, in 1672. For years the work has been rare and
but little known; and the small edition recently reprinted
for a bookseller of Rochester, New York, will not likely- go
very far toward making it familiar to the general reader.

Sir William Talbot's preface may serve to introduce Le-
derer and his work to us more fully.

TO THE READER.

That a stranger should presume (though with Sir Wllllam Berkly's
Commission) to go into those parts of the American Continent
where Englishmen never had been, and whither some refused to
accompany him, was, in Virginia look’d on as so great an insolence,
that our traveller at his return, instead of welcom and applause,
met nothing but affronts and reproaches; for indeed it was their
part, that forsook him in the expedition, to procure him discredit
that was a witness to theirs; therefore no industry was wanting to
prepare men with a prejudice against him, and this their malice
improved to such a general animosity, that he was not safe in Vir-
ginia from the outrage of the people, drawn into a perswasion, that
the publick levy of that year, went all to the expense of his vagaries.
Forced by this storm into Maryland, he became known to me, though
then ill-affected to the man, by the stories that went about of him:
Nevertheless finding him, contrary to my expectation, a modest in-
genious person, and a pretty scholar, I thought it common justice to
give him an occasion of vindicating himself from what I had heard
of him; which truly he did with so convincing reason and circum-
stance, as quite abolished those former impressions in me, and
made me desire this account of his travels, which here you have
faithfully rendred out of Latine from his own writings and dis-
course, with an entire map of the territory he traversed, copied from
his own hand. All these I have compared with Indian relations of

those parts (though I never met with any Indian that had followed -

a southwest-course so far as this German) and finding them agree,
I thought the printing of these papers was no injury to the author,

and might prove a service to the publick.
' WILLIAM TALBOT.
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THE FIRST WHITE MEN. 13

According to Lederer's account, he, with three Indians
whose names he gives, set out upon the ninth of March, 1669,
“from an Indian village called Shickehamary,” at the “falls
of Pemaeoncock, alias York-River in Virginia.” After cross-
ing the Pamunkey to the south side, at the confluence of the
two main branches,—the North Anna and the South Anna,—
he followed the south branch to its source. “‘The thirteenth,”
he says, “I reached the first spring of Pemaeoncock, having
crossed the river four times that day, by reason of its many
windings; but the water was so shallow, that it hardly wet
my horses patterns. * * * The fourteenth of March,
from the top of an eminent hill, I first descried that Apala-
taean mountains, bearing due west to the place I stood upon:
their distance from me was so great, that I could hardly
discern whether they were mountains or clouds, until my
Indian fellow travellers prostrating themselves in adoration,
howled out after a barbarous manner, Okée paeze i. e. God is
nigh.”

Lederer was now evidently within the present limits of
Albemarle County. He must have found the head waters of
the South Anna (the south branch of the “Pemaeoncock™)
somewhere near the northeast corner of that county; and

the “eminent hill” was doubtless one of the spurs or peaks of '

the Southwest Mountain, east or northeast of Charlottesville.
From that point he could easily have seen the Blue Ridge at
a distance of twenty or twenty-five miles. The reason he
did not see it before was evidently due to the fact that he was
coming up under the eastern side of the Southwest Mountain.

“The fifteenth of March,” he continues, “not far from this
hill, passing over the South-branch of Rappahannock-river,
T was almost swallowed in a quicksand. * * * Thus I
travelled all the sixteenth; and on the seventeenth of March
I reached the Apalataei. The air here is very thick and chill;
and the waters issuing from the mountain-sides, of a blue
color, and allumish taste.”
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Here is a slight difficulty or discrepancy in geography that
had better be noticed before we follow our traveler further.
He either turned rather sharply out of his course to the
northeast after leaving the “eminent hill,” or else he mistook
the Rivanna or Mechum’s River for the south branch of the
Rappahannock. He did the latter thing, more probably;
for he is evidently pressing forward all the time toward the
high mountains, which he speaks of as due west from the
“eminent hill.” Again, at the outset of his narrative he de-
scribes this expedition as made ‘from the head of Pemaeon-
cock * * * dyewest to the top of the Apalataean Moun-
tains.” 'This course would not have taken him across any
branches of the Rappahannock, but would have taken him
along the general course, and toward the sources, of Me-
chum’s River. Moreover, he could much more readily have
been mistaken in the identity of a small stream than in the
points of the compass. ,

Having spoken of reaching the mountains on the seven-
teenth, he continues:

The eighteenth of March, after I had in vain essayed to ride up, I
alighted, and left my horse with one of the Indians, whilst with the
other two I climbed up the rocks, which were so incumbered with
bushes and brambles, that the ascent proved very difficult: besides
the first precipice was so steep, that if I lookt down, I was imme-
diately taken with a swimming in my head; though afterwards the
way was more easie. The height of this mountain was very extra-
ordinary: for notwithstanding I set out with the first appearance of
light, it was late in the evening before I gained the top, from whence
the next morning I had a beautiful prospect of the Atlantick-Ocean
washing the Virginia-shore; but to the north and west, my sight was
suddenly bounded by mountains higher than that I stood upon.
Here did I wander in snow, for the most part, till the four and
twentieth day of March, hoping to find some passage through the
mountains; but the coldness of the air and earth together, seizing
my hands and feet with numbness, put me to a ne plus ultra; and
therefore having found my Indian at the foot of the mountain with
my horse, I returned back by the same way that I went.

Here are more difficulties. It appears uncertain from the

o ST s A b e



THE FIRST WHITE MEN. 15

narrative whether Lederer crossed the Valley or not. And
yet, traveling at the rate he seems to have maintained most
of the time,—some fifteen or twenty miles a day,—he could
easily have gone from the eastern part of Albemarle to the
western border of the present Augusta County from the
fourteenth of March to the seventeenth. What he can mean
by his reference to the Atlantic Ocean, is a mystery; for it
would be equally impossible to see it from either the Alle-
ghanies or the Blue Ridge. His description of the prospect
to the north and west, of the mountains near at hand higher
than the one he stood upon, fits exactly the conditions west
of the Valley, but does not fit the conditions on the eastern
side. Moreover, persons who are familiar with both localities
can readily understand how he could have wandered in snow
from the eighteenth of March to the twenty-fourth on the
first ranges of the Alleghanies without finding a passage
through; but must be considerably at a loss to know why he
could not, in six days, have gone down into the Valley from
the top of the Blue Ridge. But the strongest evidence that
Lederer did cross the Valley upon this first expedition is
found in his map. There he indicates his route as extending
westwardly across the Valley, and into the western moun-
tains at the gap made in the first ranges by the north branch
of the James River, now known as Goshen Pass, in Rock-
bridge County; and as terminating on one of the great peaks
in or near the western border of the present county of Bath.
It is probable that Lederer’s Indian guides were somewhat fa-
miliar with the trails through the outlying range of the Appa-
lachians,—i. e., the Blue Ridge; that it in consequence was
passed without difficulty, and hence without special notice or
remark.

On his second expedition, extending over the sixty days
from May 20 to July 18, in the year 1670, Lederer went far
into the southwest, and apparently did not get into the Valley
proper. It was upon this tour that he was accompanied at
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16 THE VALLEY GERMANS.

the start by a Major Harris, “twenty Christian horse, and
five Indians”; but this company turned back on the fifth of
Tune, and Lederer had thenceforth only a single companion,
a Susquehannah Indian. The circumstances at this point may
be given with most brevity and appropriateness in Lederer’s
own words:

The third of June we came to the south-branch of James-river,
which Major Harris observing to run northward, vainly imagined
to be an arm of the lake of Canada; and was so transported with
this fancy, that he would have raised a pillar to the discovery, if
the fear of the Mahock Indian, and want of food had permitted him
to stay. Here I moved to cross the river and march on; but the
rest of the company were so weary of the enterprize, that crying
out, one and all, they had offered violence to me, had I not been
provided with a private commission from the Governor of Virginia
to proceed, though the rest of the company should abandon me;
the sight of which laid their fury. * * * The fifth of June, my
company and I parted good friends, they back again, and I with
one Sasquesahanough-Indian, named Jackzetavon, only, in pursuit
of my first enterprize, changing my course from west to southwest
and by south, to avoid the mountains. Major Harris at parting
gave me a gun, believing me a lost man, and given up as a prey to
Indians or savage beasts; which made him the bolder in Virginia to
report strange things in his own praise and my disparagement, pre-
suming I would never appear to disprove him. This, I suppose, and
no other, was the cause that he did with so much industry procure
me discredit and odium; but I have lost nothing by it, but what I
never studied to gain, which is popular applause.

Whatever Lederer’s reception may have been upon his
return from the second tour, he evidently still enjoyed to no
slight degree the confidence of some men of influence, the
Governor likely being still among the number; for on the
twentieth of August he set out upon a third expedition, with
a Colonel Catlet of Virginia, nine English horse, and five
Indians on foot. This time he went “from the Falls of
Rappahannock-River * * * (due West) to the top of
the Apalataean Mountains.”

The party set out from the house of Robert Talifer, and
spent the first night at the falls of the Rappahannock—the
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site of Fredericksburg. The next day, having crossed to the
neighborhood of Falmouth, the company proceeded up the
north bank of the river to the fork; there they crossed the
north fork to its south side, but continued to follow it toward
its sources in the Blue Ridge. It will be seen, therefore, that
this part of the route followed a direction northwest, and
not “due west.” On August 23, three days after the start,
the stream was found so shallow that it wet only the horses’
loofs. By this time the party was near the summit of the
divide, in the vicinity of Markham, or perhaps of Linden, on
what is now the northwest border of Fauquier County. “The
four and twentieth,” says Lederer, “we travelled thorow the
Savanae amongst vast herds of red and fallow deer which
stood gazing at us; and a little after, we came to the Pro-
montories or spurs of the Apalataean-Mountains.”

Here heyond a doubt we find our explorer in the great
valley, though again he has said nothing in particular of
crossing the Blue Ridge.

It is worth while to notice that both on his map and in
his narrative Lederer calls the Valley the “Savanae”—a tract
of level or comparatively level land covered with the vegetable
growths usually found in a damp soil with a warm or tem-
perate climate; as grass or reeds; but destitute of trees.
Here is found, then, a confirmation of the statements quoted
in the preceding chapter, to the effect that in early times the
greater part of the Shenandoah Valley was a prairie. Le-
derer’s further description is interesting:

These Savanae are low grounds at the foot of the Apalatacans,
which all the winter, spring, and part of the summer, lie under snow
or water, when the snow is dissolved, which falls down from the
mountains commonly about the beginning of June; and then their
verdure is wonderful pleasant to the eye, especially of such as having
travelled through the shade of the vast forest, come out of a melan-
choly darkness of a sudden, into a clear and open skie. To hcighten
the beauty of these parts, the first springs of most of those great
rivers which run into the Atlantick ocean, or Cheseapeack bay, do
here break out, and in various branches interlace the flowery mecads,

-2
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whose luxurious herbage invites numerous herds of red deer to
feed.14

The route by which Lederer and his party crossed the
Valley upon this expedition was some seventy or eighty miles
lower down than his crossing place of the preceding year;
and must have taken them by or near the sites of the present
towns of Front Royal and Strasburg.’® He says:

The six and twentieth of August we came to the mountains, where
finding no horseway up, we alighted, and left our horses with two
or three Indians below, whilst we went up afoot. The ascent was
so steep, the cold so intense, and we so tired, that having with much
ado gained the top of one of the highest, we drank the kings health
in brandy, gave the mountain his name [‘Mons Car Reg’ it is marked
on the map], and agreed to return back again, having no encourage-
ment from that prospect to proceed to a further discovery; * * *
we unanimously agreed to return back, seeing no possibility of pass-
ing through the mountains: and finding our Indians with our horses
in the place where we left them, we rode homewards without any

further discovery.tt .

“King Charles’ Mountain,” marking the western limit of
this expedition, is probably within the present boundaries of
Hampshire or Hardy County, West Virginia.

Thus we take leave of John Lederer, his friends and his
foes; only remarking upon the coincidence that a German

14. The main cause for the Valley being so largely prairie is
doubtless given by Hon. J. A. Waddell, in his Annals of Augusta,
page 18:—“The face of the country between the Blue Ridge and the
North Mountain was, of course, diversiied by hill and dale [at the
beginning of the 18th century], as it is now; but forest trees were
less numerous than at the present time, the growth of timber being
prevented by the frequent fires kindled by hunting parties of In-
dians.”

15. Prof. Virgil A. Lewis is evidently mistaken in saying that
Lederer and his party crossed the Blue Ridge in the vicinity of
Harpers Ferry.—See Lewis’ History and Government of West Vir-
ginia, p. 35; and Lewis’ Hand Book of West Virginia, p. 29.

16. The Discoveries of John Lederer, p. 25.—None of the preced-
ing quotations have been located by number of page, for the reason
that the book containing the several accounts is altogether a small
one, and the various statements from it may readily be found.
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should have been the first white man to explore that portion
of the Valley of Virginia that was to be so largely settled by
Germans a little more than a half century later. It is not
impossible that his sojourn in Maryland may have had some
influence upon subsequent emigration from that quarter and

the adjacent sections of Pennsylvania; but upon this point
we find no record.




CHAPTER IIL

TuE GERMANS OF THE SHENANDOAH VALLEY:
wWaeNcE Tuey CaMe; Wuy; AND WHEN.

The great majority of the Germans in the Valley of Vir-
ginia came across the Potomac above Harper’s Ferry, from
Maryland and Pennsylvania. Pennsylvania was the chief
distributing center; and the counties of Lancaster, Lebanon,
Berks, and York, with those surrounding Philadelphia, sent
south the greatest numbers. The narrow neck of western
Maryland was soon traversed; and the Shenandoah Valley
lay next beyond. In addition to the great body from Penn-
sylvania, there were a few who came from New Jersey and
New York; a few from the East Virginia counties of Spott-
sylvania, Orange, and Madison—chiefly of the Germanna
families; and also a few, doubtless, from the German settle-
ments in North Carolina. In and following the period of
the Revolutionary War, the German element in the Valley
was considerably increased by Hessian soldiers who came
over in the English service, and remained in America; and
by others of their friends and countrymen who followed them
after the establishment of peace. Some of these Hessians
appear to have been skilled workmen; and a few, trained
students. Most of them were a valuable addition to the grow-
ing country, despite the fact that they were looked upon for
many years with much contempt and no little bitterness. In
consequence, they and their descendants often tried to hide
as soon as possible their origin and identity, under the new
language, new forms of family names, and half-learned Eng-
lish manners. At this day, when time has long since erased
those early prejudices, it is easy for us to see that much of
the obloquy and scorn heaped upon the Hessians rested upon
no good reason. It may seriously be doubted whether the




WHENCE THEY CAME,. 21

tales of “selling soldiers,” etc., are in many cases well
founded. At any rate, there was abundant reason, aside from
mercenary inducements, why the Hessians of the last quarter
of the eighteenth century should fight with and for the Eng-
lish. The English had for many years been fighting with
the Hessians in Germany. “For a century and a half Hes-
sian soldiers fought shoulder to shoulder with the English
troops, mainly against France.”* What was more natural,
therefore, than that when Frenchmen fought with Americans
against Englishmen, Hessians should fight with Englishmen
against Americans :

4 During the latter part of the Revolution and immediately
following that struggle, a considerable number of Germans
belonging to the religious body known as Dunkers came
into the Valley, and established homes.” But they, too, were
from Pennsylvania, almost without exception; and did not
differ materially in racial or social qualities from the earlier
immigrants. Barring individuals and small companies from

time to time, the Dunkers appear to have been among the

latest comers. ,
/7 It will be observed, therefore, that the German element of
the Valley of Virginia is chiefly made up of the descendants
of early immigrants: families who, for the most part, came
into the country prior to the year 1800; who bought lands
and established homes, and handed their growing possessions
down from father to son. The great influx of Germans to
the United States during the last century scarcely touched the
Shenandoah Valley: most of them went into the far North
and West: so that comparatively few new families have come

into the Valley during the last two or three generations. ,,

Among these few, however, there are some notable instances.

1. Pennsylvania Magazine, Vol. XXIII, p. 157.

2. On the Hessians, sece the article above referred to; also, Popp’s
Journal; Rosengarten’s German Allies and The German Soldier;
Palmer’s Calendar of State Papers, Vol. I, pp. 483, 486, 500, 508,
553, 554, 556, 560, 564; etc.
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There are at present in the Shenandoah Valley, living for
the most part in the larger towns, from 300 to 400 Jews,
chiefly enterprising and successful tradespeople, generally
geod citizens, rapidly growing in public spirit. Most of
them are natives of southern Germany, and nearly all of them
have come in since 1850. The oldest among them came direct
to the Valley, upon their arrival in America; the later comers
usually stopped awhile in the seaport towns. They have come
chiefly, it appears, because of the agreeable surroundings anc
excellent business opportunities afforded here; but many left

the Fatherland because of the war in 1870-71 between Ger- 4

many and France?

Among the late coming German families have been a num-
ber of individuals that have already won distinction; but
for want of space only two of these, F. A. Graichen and
Charles B. Rouss, may be mentioned. Mr. Graichen, mayor
of Winchester from 1886 to 1888, and founder of the well
known glove factory of that city, was born in Altenburg,
Germany, in 1827. He came to Baltimore in 1848, and lo-
cated at Winchester in 1853. Mr. Rouss comes of an Aus-
rian family, and was born in Frederick County, Maryland;
but, coming with his parents early in life to the Valley of
Virginia, he got his schooling in both books and business at
Winchester. There, too, he made his first fortune as a trades-
man; and there his body rests in a magnificent mausoleum.

/7 The causes that brought the German people from Penn-
sylvania to Virginia were no doubt chiefly economic, though
race prejudice growing out of the close association of hetero-
geneous nationalities, and real or fancied neglect on the part
of the Pennsylvania government may have contributed to
the same effect.* But the Pennsylvania Germans, having/

3. For most of the facts herewith presented in reference to the
immigration of the Jews, their number at the present time, etc.,
I am indebted to the kindness of Mr. B. Ney, of Harrisonburg, Va.

" 4. Schuricht’s German Element in Virginia, Vol. I, p. 85; Wad-
dell’s Scotch-Irish of the Valley of Virginia, p. 90.
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passed the stressful period of their history, wanted land for
their children: good land, cheap land, much land. William
Beverley, writing April 30, 1732, to a friend in Williams-
burg concerning lands on the Shenandoah, says: ‘“Ye north-
ern men are fond of buying land there, because they can buy
it, for six or seven pounds pr: hundred acres, cheaper than
they can take up land in pensilvania and they don’t care to go
as far as Wmshurg.”® Therefore; after the best farms in
Pennsylvania had been taken, and the narrow breadth of
Maryland had been occupied, the next and most natural thing
was to go across the Potomac into the Shenandoah Valley.
There they found a free, open, and fertile new land; and
there they chose to invest their savings and fix their dwellings.

When we raise our eyes to the broader horizon, and ask
the larger question, Why came the Germans to America?—
which is a fair question, and one that can scarcely be disre-
garded here—we are confronted with a problem more intri-
cate and complex, yet not difficult of solution. The great
German immigration began practically with the beginning
of the eighteenth century: some came to the Carolinas; some
to Virginia; some to New York; hut most of them came to
Pennsylvania;® and the chief causes for their leaving Europe
were religious persecution, devastating wars, political op-
pression, and social unrest.®

# The German is by nature and training a lover of home and

7y

of the home land; he is conservative in temperament, and is
not easily given to new opinions or new paths. It is evi-
dent, therefore, that a combination of strong influences must
have been necessary to get the tide of emigration started—to
overcome his racial inertia, and to drive him into the un-

5. Palmer’s Calendar, Vol. I, p. 218.

6. Sachse’s German Sectarians, Vol. II, p. 332.

7. Kuhns' German and Swiss Scttlements, pp. 1-30; 62-82; Schu-
richt's German Element in Virginia, Vol. I, pp. 60-65; 76; Rupp's
Thirty Thousand Names, pp. 1-18; 420; Stapleton’s Memorials of
the Huguenots, pp. 34, 72, 101, 112, 118; Virginia Magazine, Vol.

XIII, No. 3, p. 287.
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certainties, hardships, and dangers that two centuries ago
beset a journey across the seas and lurked in the wilderness
of the New World. But sufficient incentives were 1ot want-
ing: the Old World drove him out, while the New, with all

its untried possibilities, yet said “Come” in a language that

was unmistakable.
It is doubtless true that the great German exodus of the

eighteenth century had its preparation from 1618 to 1648, in
the Thirty Years’ War: that devastating scourge of fire,

blood, and sin, kindled in the name of religion and fed to its

bitter end with every human ambition and every human pas-
sion. 'The embers of this burning were still red when another
series of wars began, which harried out the century and put
their destroying blight heavily upon the next: the war re-
specting the Spanish Netherlands, 1667-1668; the war with
the Protestant Netherlands, 1672-1678; the war of the Pala-
tinate, 1688-1697; and the war of the Spanish Succession,
1701-1714.

One of the districts that suffered most severely in these
wars was the Lower Palatinate, a country lying near France,
on both sides of the Rhine, to the northeast of Alsace and
Lorraine. Conditions there during the War of the Pala-
tinate are described by a well known historian in the follow-
ing words: . :

Secking a pretext for beginning hostilities, he [Louis XIV of
France] laid claim, on the part of his sister-in-law, to properties in
the Palatinate, and hurried a large army into the couatry, which
was quickly overrun, But being unable to hold the conquests he
had made, Louis ordered that the country be laid waste. Among
the places reduced to ruins were the historic towns of Heidelberg,
Spires, and Worms. Even fruit trees, vines, and crops were de-

stroyed. Upwards of a hundred thousand peasants were rendered
homeless.8

This war lasted till 1697. We are not surprised, therefore,
that a great tide of emigration began almost immediately,
continuing, as well as it could, throughout the next fierce

8. Myers’ Modern Age, p. 211.
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conflict, and for many years thereafter; nor are we surprisec
that a larger number of emigrants probably went out from
the Palatinate during the next century than from any other
part of Germany.

But even the Treaty of Utrecht, following the War of the
Spanish Succession, was not to leave the stricken lands of
the Rhine and Elbe long in peace. In 1740 began the eight-
year struggle of the Austrian Succession; and, in 1756, the
Seven Years' War. Thus we have in outline some of thw
great disturbing causes that were making many of the peopie
of Europe long for new homes—or, indeed, homes of any
sort. Added to these larger movements were the various
disturbing forces, political, social, economic, or religious, pe-
culiar to each locality. For example, at Heidelberg the
Elector Palatine, Frederick II, became a Lutheran; Frederick
I1I, a Calvinist; Ludovic V restored the Lutheran Church; his
son and successor re-established Calvinism; and next came a
Catholic prince, to insist upon the spiritual allegiance of his
subjects to his creed.” No wonder that the Old World and
its people became “well tired of each other.” Scotch Refu-
gees, Quakers and Dissenters, Huguenots and Hollanders,
and with them the Germans in thousand after thousand,
sought homes beyond the western seas.*”

After the tide of Teutonic emigration had once become
well started, the influence was often contagious; the Wander-
lust siezed many, as when their ancestors of old pressed down
from the north and overran the Roman Empire. Many who
came to America found things well pleasing to them; and
the reports they sent back to their friends lost nothing in
the perspective of distance, novelty, and strong desire. Daniel
Falckner, an educated German who had spent some time in
Pennsylvania, went over to Halle about 1700. His friend,
the influential August Hermann Francke, propounded to him

9. Pennsylvania Magazine, Vol. X, p. 382
10. For an excellent presentation of this whole question, see the
Pennsylvania Magazine, Vol. X, pp. 241-250; 375-391.
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in writing one hundred and three questions, relating to the
people and things in Pennsylvania, to which Falckner re-
sponded at length. The manuscript of the questions and
answers covers 197 folio pages. This manuscript was pub-
lished in 1702 at Frankfurt and Leipzig, and doubtless had a
strong influence in stimulating emigration.’?  William Penn
visited Germany, and large numbers of the people accepted
his invitation, and settled in his new colony. The Dutch
ship-owners hired influential Germans, living in America, to
return to the Fatherland as emigration agents, and by artful
methods, fair and unfair, to stimulate enthusiasm in the
movement.

The hardships of the journey, over land and sea, have
already been referred to; many died upon the long voyages;
many arrived sick; and some who lived and escaped disease
never saw the New World. Great numbers of Germans
flocked to London, with an innocent confidence, which recalls
the Children’s Crusade, that a way would speedily be pro-
vided them for transportation to the English colonies in
America. In the predicament, the Lord-Lieutenant of Ire-
land petitioned Queen Anne that some might be sent to the
Emerald Isle. His request was complied with, at least in
part; and by February, 1710, we find that no less than 3800
Germans had been carried to Munster, where they settled, and
where their descendants have maintained their characteristics
of probity, honor, and thrift.1?

We have now before us not only the causes of the German
immigration to America, but also, in Falckner’s book and
Penn’s visit to Germany, at least two of the influences that
drew them to the colony of Pennsylvania, rather than to any
other colony. In the early days a considerable number came
to New York; but most of them soon became dissatisfied.

11. Publications of the Pennsylvania-German Society, Vol. XIV,
pp. 39-256.

12. Pennsylvania Magazine, Vol. X, p. 381; Rupp’s Thirty Thou-
sand Names, p. 4; Kuhns’ German and Swiss Settlements, pp. 62-82.
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Many of them seem to have got into trouble, thrcugh their
financial embarrassments or ignorance of the law, in respect
to their land titles and other interests; and because of this
they reached the conclusion, often with good reason, that
the authorities in the colony were unjust to them. The ma-
jority of them removed to Pennsylvania and, sending word
back to the Fatherland, warned their friends against New
York, advising them to come to Pennsylvania.'* But, most
/of all, perhaps, Pennsylvania was generally looked upon as a
place of religious liberty, a place of refuge; and so those
distressed in heart and conscience, as well as those seeking a

good investment for their money and labor, came to Penn-,

sylvania. -

From 1682 to 1702 comparatively few Germans arrived at
Philadelphia: the movement was just beginning; but the
period from 1702 to 1727 was epoch-making : between 40,000
and 50,000 came to the Quaker colony.'* In the year 1719,
alone, 6000 landed.*®

In Professor Rupp’s valuable collection, “Thirty Thousand
Names of German, Swiss, Dutch, and French Immigrants,”
we have reproduced the names of many of the Germans that
landed at Philadelphia from 1727 to 1776, together with
other facts in many cases concerning the country from which
they came, the vessels in which they sailed, etc. The original
lists of signatures were taken by requirement of law; and,
although in most cases they contain only the names of the
men over sixteen years of age, in numerous instances the
number of each sex, or the total number of both sexes in
each vessel, is recorded. From the given figures as a basis,
a fair estimate may be made of the totals in the other cases.
Proceeding upon this basis, with a care to be conservative in
all my estimates, I have gone over Rupp’s work, and present

13. Pennsylvania Magazine, Vol, X, pp. 387, 388; Rupp’s Thirty
Thousand Names, p. 452.

14. Rupp’s Thirty Thousand Names, pp. 1, 2.
15. Pennsylvania Magazine, Vol. X, p. 391.
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herewith some of the results obtained,—not only those in
regard to the number of arrivals each year, but also some in
regard to the various countries from which the immigrants
came.

German Immigrants, Male and Female, Landing at

Philadelphia.
Year. No. of Arrivals. | Year. No. of Arrivals.
1727 c. 1250 1750 c. 4000
1728 c. 400 1751 c. 4000
1729 c. 310 1752 c. 4600
1730 c. 450 1753 c. 4000
1731 631 1754 c. 4500
1732 ¢. 2000 1755 c. 300
1733 ¢. 1500 1756 109
1734 c. 400 1761 c. 50v
1735 c. 230 1762
1736 c. 850 1763 c¢. 600
1737 c. 1800 1764 2129
1738 3116 1765 c. 800
1739 1673 1766 c. 600
1740 1131 1767 840
1741 ¢. 1000 1768 c. 800
1742 c. 850 1769 c. 325
1743 ¢. 1300 1770 c. 500
1744 c. 900 1771 c. 900
1745 1772 c. 800
1746 c. 350 1773 c. 1500
1747 c. 800 1774 c. 550
1748 ¢. 1500 1775 c. 200
1749 ¢. 7000%°

18. Lecky, following Kalm, says that nearly 12,000 came to Penn-
sylvania in 1749.—American Revolution, Woodburn’s Ed., p. 21.

17. Rupp makes this note:—“Owing to the hostilities between
France and England, German immigration was completely suspended
from 1756 to 1761.”—Page 351.
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t

A glance over the above table, giving the approximate
numbers of arrivals in the several years from 1727 to 1776,
will reveal some rather striking facts in confirmation of the
statement that the European wars were one of the great
causes of German emigration. Take, for example, the War
of the Austrian Succession, 1740 to 1748. During the actual
progress of the conflict only a few could get away; but
immediately following its close great numbers crowded the
ships. On the other hand, war in America repelled immi-
grants. During the Seven Years’ War, there was also war
in America, and in consequence there was practically no
immigration from 1756 to 1763. The American Revolution
also put a decided check upon German immigration, which
continued to be sluggish until after the fall of Napoleon.!®

The following figures, prepared from statistics given in
Professor Seidensticker's Die Erste Dcutsche Einwwanderung
in Amertka, will afford additional illustration in this con-
nection. From 1820 to 1831, the average yearly number of
German immigrants to the United States was slightly over
845; from 1832 to 1836, the five years following the Euro-
pean disturbances of 1830, the average yearly number was
12,777 1-5. From 1845 to 1849, the yearly average was
56,979 2-5; from 1850 to 1854, the five years following the
revolution of 1848, the yearly average was 130,850 1-5.1°
From 1861 to 1865, slightly more than 46,610 Germans came
to the States yearly; but from 1866 to 1870 the annual num-
her was 117,791,

The following facts, collated with reference to the places
of nativity of those immigrants who came over from 1727
to 1776, are of particular interest in the face of our question,
Whence? For the names of practically all the German fam-

18, Seidensticker’'s First Century of German Printing, p. viii.

19. On the influence of the revolutions of 1830 and 1848 upon
German emigration, see Carl Schurz’s article in McClure’s Maga-
zine, December, 1906.
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ilies of the Shenandoah Valley are to be found in Rupp’s
collection. From 1727 to 1739 each ship-load of arrivals are
designated “Palatines,” almost without exception. During
the years 1740 and 1741 they are also called “Palatines,”
except that one ship-load, registered.on September 23, 1740,
are labeled “Palatines and Switzers.” From 1742 to 1748,
“Foreigners” is the designation employed. In 1749 we find
a pleasing variety: there are “Foreigners,” “Wirtembergers,”
“Wirtembergers from Erbach,” “Palatines,” “Foreigners
from Wirtemberg, Alsace, and Zweibrucken”; and more
“Foreigners” from various places: Zweibrucken, Nassau,
Hanau, Darmstadt, Eisenberg, Swabia, Mannheim, Durlach,
Rittenheim, etc. From 1750 to 1753 the immigrants are not
identified as to place of former residence; but they are some-
times identified with respect to religion, as “Calvinists,”
“Mennonites,” “Catholics,” etc. In 1754 their places of for-
mer residence are usually given: Alsace, Lorraine, Franconia,
the Palatinate, Wirtemberg, Darmstadt, Zweibrucken, Hesse,
Westphalia, Hanau, Switzerland, Hamburg, Hanover, Sax-
ony. From 1735 to 1775 they are not identified as to place of
birth or former residence; a few ship-loads, only, are identified
with respect to religion; but, as in nearly every case from
1727, the name of the ship, of the ship-master, and the names
of the foreign ports from which the ship last sailed, are
given. From the foregoing particulars, it will be observed

" that the great majority of immigrants of the 18th century

were from South Germany.

In closing this chapter, the fact is emphasized that the
Germans of the Valley of Virginia are descended almost
entirely from the immigrants of the early eighteenth century:
people who left the Fatherland, not for economic reasons
alone, but largely because of religious persecution, political
oppression, or military outrages. Such forces always move
the best classes,—people who at such times are seeking most
of all liberty of conscience, health of the state, and safety
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for the morals of home and family.?® The German pioneers
of the Valley, like their neighbors the Scotch-Irish,?! were
such a people. They came when facilities for travel and
transportation were at a minimum, and when the perils of the
undertaking were at a maximum. Let us hope that their
descendants will never lose the love of liberty and the love
of virtue that burned in the bosoms of the fathers, and that
drove them far forth in the face of danger.

20. See Report of U. S. Commissioner of Education, 1901, Vol. I,
p. 562.

21. Peyton’s History of Augusta, p. 79.




CHAPTER 1V.
EARLY SETTLEMENTS.

Attention has been called to the fact, in Chapter II pre-
ceding, that it is possible, and even probable, that other white
men besides John Lederer and his companions were in the
Shenandoah Valley ahead of Governor Spotswood, who came
in 1716. However, if this be true, it is not likely that any
permanent settlements can be placed nearly so early as his
visit. Those white men who might have been found west of
the Blue Ridge prior to 1726 or 1727, were all doubtless
explorers, missionaries, hunters, or Indian traders. About
the year 1725 John Van Meter, a Dutchman from New York,
was in the valley of the South Branch of the Potomac, twenty-
five or thirty miles west of the valley of the Shenandoah.
He was a trader, and spent much of his time among the
Delaware Indians, in Pennsylvania; but also journeyed far
to the south to traffic with the Cherokees and Catawbas.
Tater, upon his advice, his two sons, John and Isaac Van
Meter, came to Virginia and secured large tracts of land,
not exclusively in the valley of the South Branch, but first in
the lower valley of the Shenandoah.?

It is evident that about the same time that Van Meter the
elder was traversing the valley of the South Branch, other
adventurers, from eastern Virginia, were pushing out toward
the head fountains of the same stream, where the waters turn
southwestward, toward the James; for the Cowpasture River
was known and named as early as 1727. In that year Robert
Lewis, William Lynn, Robert Brooke, Jr., James Mills, Wil-
liam Lewis, and Beverly Robinson petitioned the Governor
in Council for 50,000 acres of land “in one or more tracts on

1. Lewis’ History and Government of West Virginia, pp. 40-42;
Kercheval’'s History of the Valley, pp. 46, 51.
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the head branches of James River to the West and North-
westward of the Cow Pasture,” with a view to procuring
settlers for the same.? Whether the petition was granted or
not does not appear; but it seems to be an established fact
that white people located in the designated region at the time
of, or soon after, the settlement of the Scotch-Irish about
the site of Staunton, in 17323 Why Lewis, Lynn, Brooke,
and their friends, in their search for lands, should have passed
by the fertile tracts in the Valley is a mystery.

It was in 1730 that the younger Van Meters, John and
Isaac, obtained their first grants of land. John got 10,000
acres in the forks of the Shenandoah, including the places
called Cedar Lick and Stony Lick, together with 20,000
acres lower down; Isaac got 10,000 acres in the lower val-
leyt These grants, as most others of the time, were made
upon the condition that within two years a family should be
settled on each thousand acres. In 1731 the Van Meters sold
portions of their tracts to Jost Hite, who, in 1732, settled
iz the Valley with his three sons-in-law, George Bowman,
Jacob Chrisman, Paul Froman, and others. On June 12,
1734, patents were ordered to be issued to the “Several Mas-
ters of Families” residing on these lands, as well as on part
of another tract granted conditionally to Hite, Robert Mac-
kay, and others.” These patents were issued upon proof that
the required number of families had been brought in; so
that we here find evidence that, by the early part of this year
(1734), some forty families were settled on and near the
Opequon, cast, south, and southwest of the site of Win-

chester.,

2, Palmer's Calendar of State Papers, Vol. I, p. 214,

8. Waddell's Annals of Augusta, p. 2L

4, Virginia Magazine, Vol. XIII, No. 2, pp. 115-119.

5. Idem, No. 4, p. 354—George Bowman's house, erected on Cedar
Creek in 1734, is said to be still standing—English’s Life of G. R.
Clark, Vol. I, p. 116.

-3
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Jost Hite was a native of Strasburg, in Alsace;® his sons-
in-law, Bowman, Chrisman, and Froman, and his friend Peter
Stephens, as well as most of the others in the Opequon
settlement, were also Germans; but with these were a num-
ber of Scotch-Irish, among whom were Robert McKay, Wil-
liam Duff, and probably Robert Green.” It appears, indeed,
that John Lewis, the Scotch-Irish pioneer of Augusta County,
came from Pennsylvania to Virginia with Hite and his party
in 1732; but, passing on up the Valley the same year, began
his settlement near the site of Staunton.®

For many years Jost Hite enjoyed the distinction of being
generally regarded as the first permanent settler in the Shen-
audoah Valley. He certainly was one of the most influential
citizens of his day, west of the Blue Ridge; and he was
cdoubtless the leader in permanent settlement in the section
jow embraced in Frederick County; therefore he has been
given a prominent place in this narrative; but that he was
the first settler in the Shenandoah Valley, taken as a whole,
is now no longer claimed with serious intelligence. As was
iutimated in the beginning of this chapter, several permanent
settlements are known to have been made as much as five or
six years prior to 1732: these we shall now proceed to notice
in some detail.

In the year 1726 or 1727, Morgan ap Morgan, a Welsh-
man, removed from Pennsylvania to Virginia; settled within
the present boundaries of Berkeley County, W. Va.; and
erected, at the site of the village of Bunker Hill, what is
said to have been, and probably was, the “first cabin on the

6. Hite usually, perhaps always, signed his name in German, but
did not always spell it the same way. Hite, Heid, Heyd, Heydt,
Hyte, are some of the various forms written by himself and others.
Jost is equivalent to Just, Justus, Justin, etc, and appears in dif-
ferent forms: Joast, Joist, Yost, etc.

7. Kercheval’s History of the Valley, p. 45.

8. Peyton’s History of Augusta, p. 25; Waddell's Annals of Au-
gusta, pp. 24, 25.
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Virginia side of the Potomac, between the Blue Ridge and
North Mountains.”® Morgan also built, about 1740, near
his place of residence, the first Episcopal church in the
Valley. He died in 1799, leaving a son with the same name.
The same year that Morgan Morgan settled at Bunker Hill,
or the year following, a company of Germans crossed the
Potomac a few miles above Harper’s Ferry, at the old Pack-
horse Ford; and, a mile above the crossing, founded a settle-
ment in what is now Jefferson County, W. Va. This
settlement soon developed into a village known as New
Mecklenburg; later, at the time of its legal establishment in
1762, called Mecklenburg;'® and, later still, called Shepherds-
town after its founder, Thomas Shepherd.!!

In the year 1726 or 1727, when Morgan Morgan was build-
ing his cabin in the lower Valley, a little band of German
pioneers, far up on the Shenandoah River, were selecting a
place to be called home. That they were there at so early a
date will appear in full as we proceed. They were from
Pennsylvania; and were possibly at first members of that
large and enterprising class of pioneers known as “‘squatters”;
but we shall see that they were ready, as soon as the legal
forms and representatives of government penetrated the Val-
ley, to comply fully with every requirement of legality and
justice,

In order to get the case before us fully and authoritatively,
several documents from Palmer’s Calendar of State Papers
and other sources are herewith presented.

To the Honble William Gooch Esqr Lieutenant Governor &c &c—
The petition of the Subscribers humbly shew—

That about four years past, they purchased five thousand acres
of land, of one Jacob Stover, and paid him a great Sum of Money

9. Meade’s Old Churches, Vol. II, p. 302; Howe's Antiquities of
Virginia, p. 273; Waddell’s Annals of Augusta, p. 28; Lewis’ Hand-
book of West Virginia, p. 31.

10. Hening's Statutes, Vol. VII, p. 600.

11. Lewis’ History of West Virginia, p. 41.
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for the same, Amounting to Upwards of four hundred pounds: that
yr: petitioners were informed & believed the sd: Stover had a good
right & title in the said land—that immediately after the sd: * * *
all their lands & sevll other things in the County of Lancaster
& Province of Pensylvania, where they then lived, & came & seated
on the land they had bought of the sd Stover; and cleared sevl
Plantations & made great Improvements therecon—Since which, they
have been Informed that the sd: land (known by the name of
Massannutting) is Claimed by one Wm Beverly Gent—& that the sd:
Beverly hath brought suit agst the sd: Stover for the same, in the
Honble the Generall Court—Yr Petitioners further shew that should
the sd: Beverley recover the sd: land, that he will turn yr: Petrs out
of Doors, or oblige them to give much more for their lands & plan-
tations than they are worth, Which will entirely ruin yr Petrs—And
yor Petrs cannot recover anything of the sd Stover, to make them
amends for the Loss of their sd: lands, plantations &c, he being very
poor, and is Daily Expected to Run away. Wherefore yr Petitioners
humbly hope that as they are not Privy to any fraud done by the
sd: Stover in obtaining the sd: Land & yor petrs being Dutchmen &
not acquainted with the laws here concerning lands & Imagined the
sd; Stover’s right to be good & have Run the hazard of their lives
& estates in removing from Pensylvania to the sd: land, being above
two hundred miles & at a time when there was very few Inhabitants
in them parts of Shenando, & they frequently visited by the Indians.
And at this time yr petrs have nine Plantations, fifty one people, old
& young, thereon & Expect to have two more familys to seat on the
sd: land this spring, (none of which are any of the persons the sd:
Stover swore was on the sd: land when he obtained the sd: Patent
as yr petrs have been informed) nor did yr petrs hear of the sd:
Beverleys' claiming the said land ’til they had made plantations
thereon—And yr petrs have also paid his Majesties Quit rents for
the said land, ever since they bought the sd: land of the sd: Jacob
Stover, that Your Honrs taking all & Singular, the premisses into
yr: Consideration, will be pleased to make such order or Decree
thereon, that yr: petrs may Quietly Injoy the said land,
And yr: petr will every pray &c

MILHART RANGDMANN
ABRAHAM

MATHEW FOLK

ADAM MULLER
M—— CRIMSART. 12

This petition is not dated; but it is placed in the Calendar

12. Palmer’s Calendar of State Papers, Vol. I, pp. 219, 220.
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in the year 1733, which is proved by various circumstances to
be the correct date.!® Moreover, it was presented early in
the year, as is shown in the paper itself by the reference, “this
spring.” The original petition is still in existence, on file in
the State Library at Richmond; and the signatures, fully
and correctly given, are as follows: Adam Mueller, Abram
Strickler, Mathias Selzer, Philip Lang (Long), Paul Lung
(Long), Michael Rinehart, Hans Rood, Michael Kaufman.*

The following letter, written November 28, 1733, refers to
the German petitioners and their interests, and fits the cir-
cumstances already detailed:

Sir, This is to Inform you that I was at the great mountains &
saw several dutchmen that Came from Pencelvania and they told me
they had agreed with Stover for Land on Sherando, but since they
came they heard that Col: Wm. Beverley was at Law for it, therefore
they would not settle it, unless Stover could make them a right to
it, which if he did they would settle it directly—Which is the need-
full from

Sr yr Humble servt
To Commd

FRA: THORNTON,
To Mr. William Robertson,

at Williamsburg &c.15

To supplement the above documents and complete the evi-
dence for the statements already made, the following paper
is presented:

William Gooch LEsqr. His Majesty's Lieutenant Governour and
Commander in Chief of the Colony and Dominion of Virginia.

To all to whom these Presents Shall come Greeting.

Whereas by one Act of Assembly made at the Capitol the 23d
Qctober in the year 1705 for the better Settling and peopling this
His Majesty’s Colony and Dominion it is Enacted that it shall and
may be Lawful for the Governour and Commander in Chief of this
Colony and Dominion for the tinte being by a public Instrument or
Letters Patents under the broad Seal thereof, to Declare any Alien
or Aliens Foreigner or Foreigners being already Settled or Inhabit-

13. Virginia Magazine, Vol. XIII, No. 2, pp. 121, 122.
14, Idem, p. 121.
15. Palmer’s Calendar of State Papers, Vol. I, p. 220,
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ants of this Colony or which shall hereafter come to Settle Plant or
Reside therein upon His or theirs taking the oaths therein prescribed
and subscribing the Test to be to all entents and purposes fully and
compleatly naturalized and that all persons having Such public In-
struments or Letters Patents shall by virtue of this Act have and
Enjoy to thent and their Heirs the same Immunities and Rights of
and unto the Laws and Priviledges of this Colony and Dominion
as fully and amply as any of His Majesty’s Natural Born Subjects
have and Enjoy within the same an[d] as if the[y] had been born
within any of IHis Majesty's Realms and Dominions Provided that
nothing therein contained Shall be construed to Enable or Give
power or Priviledge to any Foreigner to Do or Execute any manner
of thing which by any of the Acts made in England concerning His
Majesty’s Plantations he is Disabled to Do or LExecute,

And Adam Miller born at Shresoinl6 in Germany having Settled and
Inhabited for fifteen years past on Shenandoa in this Colony and now
made Application to me for the benefit of Naturalization and before
me taken the oaths prescribed by Law and Subscribed the Test,
I Do hercby pursuant to the said authority Declare the said Adam
Miller to be to all intents and purposes, fully and compleatly Natu-
ralized and to have and Enjoy to him and his Heirs the same Immu-
nities and Rights of and unto the Laws and Priviledges of this Colony
and Dominion as fully and amply as any of His Majesty's Natural
Born Subjects have and Enjoy within the same, and as if he had
been born within any of His Majesty’'s Realms and Dominions ac-
cording to the aforesaid act saving always in such matters and
things which by the Laws of England concerning the Plantation he
is Disabled.

Given under my hand and the Seal of the Colony at Williamsburg
this 13th day of March 1741-2 in the 15th year of the Reign of our
Sovereign Lord King George the Second By the Grace of God King
of Great Brittain &e.

WILLIAM GOOCH.17

By a very simple process we may now determine almost

exactly the date of the first settlement at Massanutting.
About four years prior to 1733, that is, about 1729,'% the

16, Perhaps Scherstein.

17. The original of this paper is now in the possession of one of
Adam Miller’s descendants, Miss Elizabeth B. Miller, who lives on
part of the land which he owned, near Elkton, Rockingham County,
Va. A copy of the document may be found printed in the William
and Mary College Quarterly, Vol. IX, No. 2, pf). 132, 133,

18. In 1730, more probably, as will appear a little further on.
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German petitioners had bought their five thousand acres of
land of Jacob Stover. In 1729, or thereabouts, there were
not many—but there were a few—inhabitants in the valley
of the Shenandoah, in the vicinity of Massanutting. That
Adam Miller, one of the petitioners of 1733, was one of the
few there in 1729, and that he had located in that district
two or three years before 1729, are facts proved by his nat-
uralization paper, which states that he had been an inhabitant
there for fifteen years prior to 1741-2:' that is, as early as
1726-7. At this date, therefore, we may place the beginning
of the Massanutten settlement; and Adam Miller must have
been one of the first settlers, if not the very first.

Other facts confirm the above conclusions. On June 17,
1730, Jacob Stover, a native of Switzerland, obtained for
himself and “divers Germans and Swiss Families, his Asso-
ciates,” from the Virginia Colonial Council a grant for 10,000
acres of land on the Shenandoah River, in such tracts as he
should select, upon the condition that within two years he
should settle upon it the required number of families. IHe
succeeded, by methods fair or false,® in getting this grant
confirmed to him by two deeds bearing date of December 15,
1733, each for 5000 acres.?’ Both of these 5000-acre tracts
were on the Shenandoah River: one in the vicinity of Lynn-

19, The Gregorian calendar was not adopted in the British Em-
pire until 1751, long after most other countries had been following
it. In that year it was prescribed by an act of Parliament that the
next year, 1752, should begin on January 1, instead of March 25;
and that in the following September eleven days should be dropped,
in order to adjust the Old Style to the New Style. Accordingly, the
day following September 2 that year was written and known as
September 14; and the loss of time has never been felt. Counting
the year as ending March 25, it was near the close of the year 1741
when Adam Miller obtained his title to citizenship; but, as we now
count time, it was carly in the year 1742,

20. Something on the methods Stover is reported to have used
will be given further on.

21, Virginia Magazine, Vol, XIII, No. 2, pp. 120-123.
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wood and Lewiston, now in Rockingham County; the other
southwest of Luray, now in Page County. It is likely that
each was partly on both sides of the river; and each must
have extended along the course of the river for several miles.
The tract near Luray was doubtless identical with the 5000
acres purchased of Stover in 1729,—possibly before he act-
vally obtained the grant,—or in 1730, the year in which the
grant was obtained, by Adam Miller, Abram Strickler, Ma-
thias Selzer, Philip Long, and the rest; for their purchase
was called Massanutting, as they relate in their petition; and
Stover’s lower grant of 5000 acres was on Massanutting
Creek,?? and so must have included at least part of the little
valley of the said creek, on the west side of the river, known
as Massanutten to this day. A village and postoffice, bearing
the same name, are on the east side of the river, opposite the
said valley and creek. '

The foregoing account of the Massanutten settlement,
based upon original documents still in existence, is in sub-
stantial agreement with and confirms the following tradi-
tional account of Adam Miller, preserved by his descendants.
Adam Miller, as a young man, came from Germany with his
wife and an unmarried sister, and settled in Lancaster County,
Pennsylvania. Later, he went down the Chesapeake Bay into
Virginia, and near Williamsburg learned from some of the
members of Spotswood’s company of the wonderful land west
of the Blue Ridge. He went to the Valley, following Spots-
wood’s route, and was so well pleased with the lands along
the Shenandoah that he at once brought his family thither
from Pennsylvania. He also induced some of his Pennsyl-
vania friends and neighbors to come to the Valley, and locate

near him.*
The entire case before us may be briefly summarized as

99, Kercheval's History of the Valley, p. 45; Foote’s Sketches,
p. 15.
23. Virginia Magazine, Vol. X, No. 1, pp. 84, 85.
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follows: In 1726 or 1727, Adam Miller located on the Sken-
andoah River, near Massanutting; with him or soon follow-
ing him came his friends, Abram Strickler, Mathias Selser,
Philip Long,?* Paul Long, Michael Rinehart, John Rood. and
Michael Kaufman. On June 17, 1730, Jacob Stover ob-
tained his two grants on the Shenandoah River of 5000 acres
each, the lower one of which included the holdings of Adam
Miller and his friends. Either shortly before or shortly after
June 17, 1730, Miller and his friends bought this 5000-acre
tract (the Massanutting tract) of Stover for 400 pounds or
more. On April 30, 1732, William Beverley wrote to a
friend in Williamsburg, asking him to secure for him a
grant of 15,000 acres on both sides of the “main River of
Shenondore,” including an “old field, called and known by ye
name of Massanutting Town”;*® on May 5, 1732, Beverley
was granted 15,000 acres on the northwest side of the river,
“including a place called Massanutting Town, provided the
same do not interfere with any of the Tracts already granted

24. Eight miles southwest of Luray, on the Price farm, near Mas-
sanutten, is a monument with the following inscription:

In memory of
Philip Long
founder of my paternal
ancestry in America,
born in Germany A, D.
1678, Died May 4, 1755.

Lrected by Caroline V. Long Price
of Jefferson City, Mo,
July 4, 1891.

Built Old Ft. Long
near the heart of land estate
granted him by the English Crown
in 1730.
TFor a copy of this inscription I am indebted to the kindness of
Prof. John S. Flory, of Bridgewater, Va.
25. Palmer's Calendar of State Papers, Vol. I, pp. 217, 218,
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in that part of the Colony.”®® In the early part of 1733,
Miller, Strickler, Selzer, and the rest petitioned for a con-
firmation of their right through Stover, as against Beverly,
who was trying to oust them, or upset their title; on Decem-
ber 12, 1733, Beverley's cazvcat against Stover was dismissed
Stover’s grants were confirmed; and the deeds were issued
to him three days later—December 15, 1733.%7

Adam Miller, the pioneer of the Massanutten settlement
and of the upper Valley, owned first the “uppermost of the
Massanutten lots,” as is shown by the Orange County records.
This tract, now in the southwestern part of Page County,
near the Rockingham line, he sold; and, in 1741, settled near
Elkton, at Bear Lithia Spring.2® Later he seems to have
settled still nearer Elkton, upon a site that has been contin-
uously occupied by his descendants to the present day. In
religion he was a Lutheran; and that he was possessed of a
generous measure of Christian charity, as well as of a good
share of native caution, will appear from the following ex-
tract from the diary of Leonhard Schnell, a Moravian mis-
sionary:

On Sunday, December 3rd [1749], the young Franciscus went very
carly with us to show us the way to Matthias Schaub, who, imme-
diately on my offer to preach for them, sent messengers through the
neighborhood to announce my sermon. In a short time a consid-
erable number of people assembled, to whom I preached. After the
sermon I baptized the child of a Hollander. We stayed over night
with Matthias Schaub. His wife told us that we were always wel-
come in their house. We should always come to them whenever
we came into that district.

Towards evening a man from another district, Adam Mueller,
passed. I told him that T would like to come to his house and
preach there. e asked me if I were sent by God. I answered,

yes. He said, if I were sent by God I would he welcome, but he
said, there are at present so many kinds of people, that often one

26. Virginia Magazine, Vol, XIII, No. 2, p. 138.

27. Idem, pp. 120-122; No. 3, pp. 205-207.

28. My thanks are due at this point to Mr, Charles E. Kemper, of
Washington City, for personal assistance.
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does not know where they come from. I requested him to notify
his neighbors that I would preach on the 5th, which he did.

On December 4th, we left Schaub’s house, commending the whole
family to God. We traveled through the rain across the South
Shenandoah to Adam Mueller, who received us with much love. We

stayed over night with him.
On December 5th, I preached at Adam Mueller’s house on John 7:

‘Whosoever thirsteth let him come to the water and drink’ A
number of thirsty souls were present. Especially Adam Mueller
took in every word and after the sermon declared himself well
pleased. 1In the afternoon we traveled a short distance, staying over

night with a Swiss.29

Adam Miller was a soldier in the French and Indian War,
as is shown by the military schedule in Hening’s Statutes,
where his name appears along with those of others who re-
ceived pay from the Colony for services, September, 1758.20
He lived to an advanced age, dying about the close of the
Revolution.

It may be profitable at this juncture to catalogue, in chrono-
logical order, some of the earliest grants of large tracts of
land, west of the Blue Ridge; two or three of which have
been already referred to. It will be observed that some of
these grants were made to Germans and Scotch-Irish from
Pennsylvania; one at least to Germans from the Spotswood
colonies; and some to Englishmen from East Virginia.

In 1727, Robert Lewis, William Lynn, Robert Brooke, Jr.,
James Mills, William Lewis, and Beverly Robinson petitioned
for 50,000 acres, “on the head branches of James River to
the West and Northwestward of the Cow Pasture.”* This
tract lay beyond the Valley, in the present counties of High-
land and Bath. Whether the grant was made or not seems
unknown.

On October 28, 1728, Robert Carter, in behalf of the Pro-
prietors of the Northern Neck, entered a caveat against grant-

29. Virginia Magazine, Vol. XI, No. 2, pp. 126, 127.
303 Hening’s Statutes, Vol. VII, p. 186.
31, Palmer’s Calendar, Vol. I, p. 214.
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ing a patent for 10,000 acres on both sides of Happy Creek,
“joining on the great Mountains, &c &c,” to Larkin Chew and
others? This tract was evidently in the present county of
Warren: Happy Creek flows out of the Blue Ridge, and into
the Shenandoah River just below Front Royal. William Rus-
sell was probably one of the “others” to whom the contested
grant was made; for he and “his partners” took up land in
that locality in 1728.3% 'This seems to have been the first
legal attempt made by anyone to secure lands in the Shenan-
doah Valley. .

In 1729 Colonel Robert Carter (“King Carter”) secured
a grant of 50,000 acres of land, probably from the Proprietors
of the Northern Neck, in the lower Valley, on the west bank
of the Shenandoah River.** This tract included part of the
northeast end of Warren County and a considerable portion
of Clarke County. This large grant, secured in this section
by Robert Carter at this early date, will explain the fact that
the people of Clarke County are chiefly English. Only a few
Germans got into that section of the Valley.

On June 17, 1730, John Van Meter was assigned 10,000
acres in the fork of the Shenandoah, including the places
called Cedar Lick and Stony Lick, and “twenty thousand
acres of land not already taken up by Robert Carter & Mann
Page, Esqrs., or any other lying in the fork between the
Sd River Sherrando and the River, Cahongaroota, & extend-
ing thence to Opeckon & up the South Branch thereof,” for
“himself & eleven children, & also that divers of his Rela’cons
& friends living in the Government of New York.”*® This
was some of the land secured a little later by Jost Hite.

On the same date Isaac Van Meter, brother to John, ob-
tained a grant of 10,000 acres lying between Carter’s land,

32. Palmer’s Calendar, Vol. I, p. 215.

33. Virginia Magazine, Vol. XIII, No. 4, pp. 354, 355.
84. Idem, No. 2, pp. 116, 117,

35. Idem, pp. 115-117.
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the River, and the Opequon Creek.?® Hite and his colony
probably got this tract also.

On the same date (June 17, 1730) Jacob Stover, of
Switzerland, got his first two grants, each of 5000 acres, one
in the Massanutten district, the other farther up the Shenan-
doah River, in the present county of Rockingham.®®

On October 28, 1730, Alexander Ross and Morgan Bryan,
of Pennsylvania, were granted 100,000 acres in the vicinity
of Winchester, between the Opequon Creek and the North
Mountain (Alleghany), upon which they settled a colony of
Friends.”$

On June 10, 1731, William Beverley, Joseph Smith, Joseph
Clapham, Thomas Watkins, and Simeon Jeffries obtained a
grant of 20,000 acres on the western side of the lower Val-
ley, in Frederick and Shenandoah County, between Cedar
Creek and Lost River.®

On the same date, John Fishback, Jacob Holtzclow, Henry
Settler, Jacob Sengaback, Peter Reid, Michael Shower, John
Vandehouse, George Wolf, William Carpenter, and John
Richlu, “in behalf of themselves and other German Protest-
ants,” obtained a grant of 50,000 acres between the Blue
Ridge and the Shenandoah River, in the present counties of
Warren and Page.*® These men were from east of the Blue
Ridge, and some belonged to the Germanna families.

On October 21, 1731, Robert McKay and “Joost Heyd,” of
Pennsylvania, were assigned 100,000 acres in several tracts.
The order of the Council in full is given herewith:

On the peticon of Rob’t McKay & Joost Heyd, of the Province of

Pensilvania, setting forth that they & divers other Families to the
number of one hundred are desirous to remove from thence & Seat

36. Idem, pp. 118, 119.

87. Virginia Magazine, Vol. XIII, No. 2, pp. 120-123,
38. Idem, pp. 127, 128.

39. Idem, pp. 130-132.

40. Idem, pp. 132, 133.
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themselves on the back of the great Mountains within this Colony,
& praying that one hundred thousand acres of Land lying between
the Line of the Land granted to John Vanmeter, Jacob Stover, John
Tishback & others may be assigned them, and that the Residue of
the sd hundred thousand acres may be assigned upon & including
the several Branches of Sherundo River, above the Land of the said
Stover & Fishback and his Partners. The Governor, with the ad-
vice of the Council, is pleas’d to order, as it is liereby Ordered, that
the petrs, in behalf of themselves & their Partners, have leave to
take up the Sd Quantity of 100,000 acres of Land within the Limits
above described, & that upon the above Number of Families coming
to dwell there within two Years, Patents shall be granted them in
such manner as they shall agree to divide the same.!

In the association of McKay with Hite we see the reason
for the commingling of the Germans and Scotch-Irish in the
lower Valley.*?

On May 5, 1732, Francis Willis, John Lewis, and Francis
Kirkley were granted 10,000 acres on both sides of the South
Shenandoah, just above the mouth of the FHawksbill Creek.*®
This grant must have extended up to, probably into, Jacob
- Stover’s lower tract of 5000 acres—the Massanutten tract.
The John Lewis mentioned here does not appear to have been
the Scotch-Irish pioneer of Augusta.

On October 27, 1732, William Russell was granted 20,000
acres in and about the forks of the Shenandoah, near Front
Royal and Riverton, in lieu of what he had claimed from the
Van Meter grants.**

On October 28, 1734, John Tayloe, Thomas Lee, and Wil-
liam Beverly obtained a grant of 60,000 acres on the Shenan-
doah River, adjoining above Jacob Stover’s upper tract of
5000 acres.*s

In 1736, or thereabouts, Benjamin Burden (Borden) was
granted a tract of 100,000 acres—possibly 500,000 acres—

41. Virginia Magazine, Vol. XIII, No. 2, pp. 133, 134

42. Lewis’ History of West Virginia, p. 42; Foote’s Sketches, etc.
43. Virginia Magazine, Vol. XIII, No. 2, p. 138. ’

44, Idem, No. 3, pp. 288, 289.

45, Idem, No. 4, pp. 360-362,
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lying at present in Rockbridge County and the upper part
of Augusta.*®

Among the Germans who thus early obtained large grants
of land, Jost Hite and Jacob Stover are the most prominent.
Both have been spoken of repeatedly in the foregoing pages;
yet it may be well at this juncture to present a few addi-
tional facts in regard to each of them.

The rather uncomplimentary suggestions made with ref-
erence to some of Stover's methods in securing his land
grants, will be understood from the following story, related
by Kercheval:

On his application to the executive for his grant, he was refused
unless he could give satisfactory assurance that he would have the
lond settled with the requisite number of families within a given
time. DBeing unable to do this, he forthwith passed over to Eng-
land, petitioned the King to direct his grant to be issued, ‘and in
order to insure success, had given human names to every horse,
cow, hog and dog he owned, and which he represented as heads of
families, ready to migrate and settle the land. By this disingenious
trick he succeeded in obtaining directions from the King and Council
for securing his grant; on obtaining which he immediately sold

out his land in small divisions, at three pounds (equal to ten dollars)
per hundred, and went off with the money.47 ’

This story appears to be strengthened by several state-
ments in the petition of 1733, of Adam Miller, Abram Strick-
ler, and the rest; for they declare that none of their fifty-one
inhabitants at Massanutting, or of the two other families
soon expected, were “any of the persons the sd: Stover swore
was on the sd: land when he obtained the sd: Patent as yr
petrs have been informed.”*$ They also assert that the said
Stover is very poor, “and is Daily Expected to Run away.”
Kercheval’s assertion, that he did run away, is, however,
probably a mistake; for the public records show that he was

48. Withers’ Chronicles, p. 50; Peyton’s History of Augusta, p. 65;
Early Deed Books of Orange, Augusta, and Frederick.

47. Kercheval’s History of the Valley, p. 46.
48. Palmer's Calendar, Vol. I, p. 220.
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in the country almost continuously until his death, which
cecurred about 1740.

The deeds received by Stover, December 13, 1733, for the
two grants of 5000 acres each, obtained over three years
before, are said to be the first crown patents issued for lands
in Virginia west of the Blue Ridge*® By the time these
patents were issued he seems to have had the required number
of bonae fide settlers on the lower tract, and possibly on the
upper one also. " .

But it was not long until Stover either got back his Mas-
sanutten tract, or secured other tracts very close to it. On
September 17, 1735, he sold to Christian Clemon 550 acres
on the south side of the Shenandoah, adjoining the ‘upper
corner of his lower five thousand Tract.®® On November
10, 1735, he sold to George Boone two tracts, of 1000 acres
and 500 acres respectively, situated on a ‘small branch of
Sharrando River'—part of 5000 acres laid out for him by
the Virginia Council, June 17, 1730.°* These 1500 acres
sold to Boone were evidently part of the 5000-acre tract that
the petitioners of 1733 had bought. The grant seems to
have heen capable of indefinite expansion. But more is to
come. On December 15, 16, 1735, Stover sold to five men,
Henry Sowter, Abraham Strickler, Ludwick Stone, John Bru-
haker, and Mathias Selser, ten tracts of land, aggregating
3400 acres. Sowter got 300 acres on the south side of the
river, “near the mouth of Mesenuttin Creek”; Strickler got
1000 acres at “Mesenuttin on Gerundo”; Stone got three
tracts of 400 acres, 400 acres, and 300 acres, respectively,
“on Gerundo River”; Brubaker got two tracts, one of 300
acres, one of 200 acres, on the river—the larger tract ad-
joining Mathias Selser; Selser got three tracts, two of 200
acres each, one of 100 acres, “on Gerundo River.”3?

49. Virginia Magazine, Vol. XIII, No. 3, p. 297.
50. Orange County Dced Book No. 1, pp. 151-154,
51. Tdem, pp. 184-188,

52. Idem, pp. 200-216.
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The capacious extensions of ‘“Massanutten” may be ex-
plained, perhaps, by recalling that the term was sometimes
applied to the whole Page valley; but how shall we explain
Stover's repeated possession of the original 5000-acre tract,
or at least large parts of it? Observe, in addition to the
above, the two following cases: On September 20, 21, 1736,
Stover sold to Peter Bowman 400 acres on the west side of
the river, part of the 5000 acres granted to Stover, and the
part he then lived on®™; and on March 20, 21, 1733, he sold
to Christopher Franciscus 3000 acres, with the mansion
house, the land adjoining Peter Bowman on the river, and
being part of the 5000-acre tract patented by Jacob Stover,
December 15, 1733.%*  Evidently, by purchase or otherwise,
Stover must have come into a second possession of the greater
part of the land sold to the petitioners of 1733. In 1737
and 1738 there was some litigation between Stover and Lud-
wig Stone and others, concerning land; and a complete record
might explain much of the foregoing; but unfortunately
some of the papers relating to these legal proceedings appear
to be lost.?®

On March 21, 1738, Jacob Stover and his wife Margaret
gave their bond to Christopher Franciscus for £700; later
in the same year they gave another hond for £1000; and, in
security, mortgaged 5000 acres of land on hoth sides of the
Shenandoah River.®® This may have been the upper tract,
obtained in 1730. On December 13, 1738, Stover got a
grant of 800 acres on the Shenandoah, near or adjoining his
upper tract of 5000 acres.”™ On June 25, 1740, he conveyed

53. Idem, pp. 353-356.

54. Orange County Deed Book No. 2, pp. 229-232.

55. See Orange County Records; also, Virginia Magazine, Vol
X1II, No. 2, pp. 120-123.

56. Orange County Deed Book No. 2, pp. 233, 234,

57. Augusta County Deed Book No. 4, pp. 58, 65, etc.
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to Christopher Francisco, Sr., 3100 acres of land a few miles
below Port Republic.’® This was evidently part of the upper
5000-acre tract, and the conveyance was likely made to sat-
isfy the mortgage of 1738. In 1751 Christopher Francisco,
probably the younger, who had come into possession of at
least 470 acres of the upper Stover tracts, sold that amount
to Thomas Lewis;?® and the same year (1751), Jacob Stro-
ver—probably Jacob Stover, Jr.—owned a 5000-acre tract
on the upper Shenandoah.®®

Jacob Stover, Sr., died near the end of 1740, or early in
1741. On March 22, 1741, Jacob Stover [Jr.], with Henry
Downs and Jacob Castle, gave bond for administering the
estate. 'The record of the sale shows that a considerable
amount of personal property was to be disposed of; it also
shows that Ludowick Francisco, John Bumgardner, Philip
Long, and Jacob Castle were among the purchasers. Fran-
cisco bought most.%t

A proportionate sketch from known facts of Jost Hite's
career would be an almost endless task, and cannot be under-
taken here; neither is there any real need for it, since the
subject has so frequently been presented to the public.52

As has been intimated near the beginning of this chapter,
Jost Hite was a man of influence and prominence in the
public affairs of his day, both civil and military; and many
of his descendants have been of almost equal prominence.
On April 23, 1734, the Virginia Colonial Council, upon the
petition of the inhabitants west of the Blue Ridge for the

58, Virginia Magazine, Vol. XIIT, No. 2, p. 120; Orange County
Records.

59, Augusta County Deed Book No. 4, p. 38.

60. Tdem, No. 3, pp. 498-503.

61. Orange County Will Book No. 1, pp. 140, 204, 205.

62. One of the fullest accounts of Hite and his descendants may
be found in the West Virginia Historical Magazine, for April, 1903.
It is, however, in error in so far as it represents Hite as the first
settler in the Valley.
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establishment of some form of civil system, appointed Jost
Hite, with Morgan Morgan, John Smith, Benjamin Bourden,
and George Hobson, a magistrate, with authority to settle
differences and punish offenders against the public welfare.®
In 1748 Jacob Hite, Jost Hite's second son, was appointed
sheriff for Frederick County, by Governor Gooch; he gave
bond in the sum of £1000, with John Hite (his elder brother),
Isaac Hite (his next younger brother), Thomas Swearingen,
and Samuel Earle as sureties.** Abraham Hite, Jost’s fourth
son, was a leading man of affairs in Hampshire County, and
represented it in the House of Burgesses; he was a captain
in the Revolutionary War, and served as paymaster of the
Sth Virginia (German) Regiment. Others of the family
were members of the House of Burgesses from Berkeley
County. Major Isaac Hite (1758-1836), son of Isaac and
grandson of Jost, was aide to General Muhlenberg at the
siege of Yorktown. Isaac Hite married James Madison’s
sister, Nelly. He seems to have been the first man elected
to membership in the now world-famous Phi Beta Kappa
Society, founded by John Heath and others at William and
Mary College, December 5, 1776. In January, 1777, the
charter members assembled and chose officers; on March 1,
laws were adopted; and, at a called meeting on March 27,
Hite was elected to membership. He was the only one elected
at the time, and was evidently the first man chosen by the
charter members. Bushrod Washington, John Marshall, and
other men who won national eminence were among the early
members of the society.®5

Jost Hite’s greatest public service was doubtless performed
in aiding, directing, and stimulating the rapid settlement and

63. Virginia Magazine, Vol. XIII, No. 4, pp. 351, 352.
64. Frederick County Deed Book No. 1, p. 491.

65. William and Mary College Quarterly, Vol. X, pp. 120, 121.—
For Hite's connection with the Phi Beta Kappa, see the same mag-
azine for April, 1896,
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development of the country. The county deed books of
Orange, Frederick, and Augusta contain almost innumerable
records of land sales by Jost Hite. At the beginning of his
colonizing enterprises in the lower Valley he had associated
with him, as we have seen, Robert McKay. Later, Hit= and
McKay seem to have entered into a partnership in the land
business with William Duff and Robert Green—the last being
from 1736 to 1740 a member of the Virginia Colonial As-
sembly from Orange County, and later sheriff.®® One of
the best known grants secured by Hite, McKay, Duff, and
Green was obtained on March 26, 1739, and contained 7009
acres—a tract that embraced much of the fertile Linville
Creek valley, now in Rockingham County.

Very early in his career in the Valley, Jost Hite came into
conflict with Thomas Lord Fairfax. The latter claimed the
land within Hite’s early grants, and the case was in the law
courts for fifty years. This contention over titles caused a
good many of the-Germans, and possibly the Scotch-Irish
also, following Hite into the Valley, to pass by his section
and seek an abode further up, where the lands were not
ciaimed by two parties. This dispute, coupled with the fact
that the Scotch-Irish early secured a foothold in the upper
Valley, explains to a great extent the concentration of the
German element in the section between Winchester and Staun-
ton. The case was finally decided favorably to Hite in 1786,
four years after Fairfax’s death, and twenty-six years after
the death of Hite. '

In 1753, Colonel John Hite, Jost Hite’s eldest son, erected
a fine stone house, still standing and excellently preserved, at
Springdale, Frederick County, where the Valley Pike crosses
the Opequon Creek. This is probably the site of the pioneer’s
first dwelling. In 1783, John Hite, Jr., built a large stone
mill on the Opequon, at Springdale. This mill, at the time
it was built, was the largest and best in the Valley; and,

66. Colonial Virginia Register, pp. 109, 112,
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with modern improvements, it is still running. In the south.

wing of the old mansion is a large fireplace, with a bake-oven
built into the wall at the left-hand side. In the adjoining
room is another fireplace, the back of which is composed of
a large cast-iron plate. On this plate, cast in bold relief, is
the figure of a coat-of-arms, occupying a space about eighteen
inches square. The cast has been considerably defaced by
fire and rust, so that it is not very easily identified; but the
writer was informed, upon a visit to Springdale a few years
ago, that the casting represents the coat-of-arms of Lord
Fairfax. If this statement be correct, the fact is deemed
rather singular, in view of the protracted legal contests be-
tween Fairfax and the Hites. It may be, however,—let us
hope it is true,—that they were enemies only in court. Lord
Fairfax and Colonel John Hite were in 1752 both vestrymen
in the Episcopal church of Frederick County:%" possibly they
did not allow the matter of a land title to vie with Christian
charity. Another explanation of the figure in the fireplace
is possible: It may be the coat-of-arms of the Hites them-
selves. Jost Hite has been called “the old German Baron” ;%
and his family is represented as entitled to a place in the roll
of Virginia heraldry.®?

4 Apart from Jost Hite, Jacob Stover, and a few others who
took up large grants of land at a very early date, most of the
German settlers in the Valley contented themselves with the
purchase of small tracts, ranging usually from a hundred

to four or five hundred acres. A small farm, well tilled, »

scemed to be the ideal of the majority. A few, however,
purchased larger bodies of land, for the purpose, usually, of
selling it in smaller parcels to later comers. Of this number
may be mentioned the following: The Funks and Stephens,
in the lower Valley; Peter Stover and Jacob Miller, in the

" 67. Mecade’s Old Churches, Vol. II, p. 281
68. West Virginia Historical Magazine, Vol. 3, No. 2, p. 118.
69. Baltimore Sun, July 16, 23, 1905.
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section now embraced in Shenandoah County; Ludwig Stone,
the Stricklers, and the Ruffners, of Page County; and Wil-
liam Lenivell, George Bowman, Samuel Wilkins, and Chris-
topher Franciscus, of Rockingham County. Several of these
men—the Stephens, Peter Stover, and Jacob Miller—wiil
appear again later in connection with the founding of the
towns. ‘

One of the largest of these landholders was Peter Ruffner.
He was the first of the name in Virginia, and settled in 1739
at the large spring on the Hawksbill Creek, now close by the
edge of the town of Luray. His wife was Mary Steinman,
whose father gave them a large body of land extending up
both sides of the Hawksbill a distance of eight miles from
its mouth. Ruffner himself added to the estate, extending
his possessions four miles further up the stream.

William Lenivell bought in 1746 of Hite, McKay, and
Green, 1500 acres about the headwaters of the stream that
evidently was named after him—Lenivell's Creek, now Lin-
ville Creek. In 1746 and 1749 George Bowman bought two
tracts, aggregating over a thousand acres, on Linville Creek:
the first tract he bought of William Lenivell; the second, of
Jost Hite. Samuel Wilkins owned large bodies of land on
Cook’s Creek, about the present town of Dayton, and else-
where.

One of the most interesting characters of the class and
period under consideration is Christopher Franciscus, some
of whose dealings with Jacob Stover have already been no-

ticed. e, with other Germans and Swiss, located in Lan-

caster County, Pennsylvania, in the year 1709.7° On March
21, 1738, he bought of Jacob Stover 3000 acres of land, with
the mansion house, for £350 5s.; the same day he appears
to have loaned Stover £700, and later the same year, £1000,
to secure which he took a mortgage on 5000 acres of Stover’s
land. By these transactions he seems to have come into

70. Rupp's Thirty Thousand Names, p. 436.
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possession of large estates within the present limits of both
Page County and Rockingham. Most of his land appears
to have been along the Shenandoah River between Elkton
and Port Republic. On December 13, 1738, he bought of
Jacob Stover in this vicinity 470 acres, which he sold in 1751
to Thomas Lewis, who was the eldest son of the pioneer,
John Lewis, and a brother to Gen. Andrew and Col. Charles
Lewis. The tract of 3100 acres below Port Republic, con-
veyed to Franciscus by Stover in 1740, was probably to
satisfy the mortgage of 1738, securing the loan of £1700.
On November 20, 1747, Ludwick Francisco, a son of Chris-
topher, bought of Henry Downs 470 acres on the south side
of the Shenandoah River.* During the years 1749 and
1750, Christopher Franciscus sold land in Augusta (now
Rockingham) County to various persons; among others;
Jacob and Valentine Pence, John Craig, and Henry Dooley.
On February 6, 7, 1750, “Christopher Franciscus, Senior, of
Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, and Anna Margaret his
wife” sold to Jacoh Thomas for £25 5s., from a large tract
of 3000 acres, 185 acres of land on “Shannandore river and
Cubrun.”™ The witnesses to this transaction were Nicholas
Null and Christopher Franciscus, Jr. The latter signed in
German. His father and mother both made their marks.™
On August 15, 1751, C. Franciscus, Sr., makes C. Franciscus,
Jr., his lawful attorney for the sale of his 3100 acres of land
in Augusta County, on the Shenandoah River.”* During the
years 1751 and 1752 Christopher and Ludwig Franciscus,
attorneys, sell land in Augusta to Thomas Lewis, Gabriel
Jones, Peter Hull, Patrick Wilson, Ludwig Franciscus,

71. Augusta County Deed Book No. 1, pp. 453, 454.

72. Cub Run heads between Harrisonburg and the Peaked Moun-
tains, runs round the end of Peaked Mountain, and flows into the
Shenandoah River near Almond P. O.

73. Augusta County Dced Book No. 2, pp. 715-718.

74, Idem, No. 3, pp. 4069, 470,
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Nicholas Null, Valentine Pence, Nicholas Trout, and Maurice
Pound. In February of 1751, Henry Lanciscus (probably
Franciscus), bought of James Wood, William Russell, and
William Green 310 acres of land on the north and south
forks of the South Branch of the Potomac—evidently near
the present town of Moorefield, W. Va."® Henry was prob-
ably another son of Christopher Franciscus, Sr.

Whether these Franciscos were kinsmen to Peter Fran-
cisco,’¢ the strong man of Charlotte County, Virginia, or not,
the writer is unable to say; but it seems probable that they
were not related. So far as I know, there is no one in Rock-
ingham County at present bearing the name. In Craig
County, Virginia, there is a postoffice called Francisco, and a
Francisco Mill; and between 1830 and 1840 a prominent
citizen of Bath County was Charles L. Francisco. It is
possible that Christopher Francisco, Sr., never fixed his home
in the Valley; but his sons appear to have been permanent
residents. In 1749 the Moravian missionaries, Leonhard
Schunell and John Brandmueller, were in the neighborhood
between Port Republic and Elkton; and, on December 2,
Schnell wrote in his diary as follows:

We continued our journey the whole day, because we wished to be
with the Germans on Sunday. Once we lost our way. But our
desire to preach to-morrow strengthened us in our journey. In the
evening we attempted to hire a man to go with us part of the way,
but none was willing. We continued for a time down the Tschanator

[Shenandoah] and arrived rather late at the house of the sons of the
old Stopfel [Christopher] TFranciscus, who kept us over night.

On Sunday, December 3rd, the young Franciscus went very carly
with us to show us the way to Matthias Schaub, who, immediately
on my offer to preach for them, sent messengers through the neigh-
borhood to announce my sermon.’?

75. Augusta County Deed Book No. 3, pp. 120-134.

76. Howe's Antiquitics; Hening's Statutes, Vol. 13, pp. 220, 221;
William and Mary College Quarterly, Vol. XIIT, p. 213; Vol. XIV,
pp. 107-112.

77. Virginia Magazine, Vol. XI, No. 2, p. 126.
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CHAPTER V.

Countirs AND CouNTy RECORDS.

It may be helpful, before proceeding to what shall follow,
to give at this point a brief account of the formation of the
several counties in the Shenandoah Valley.

From the erection of Spottsylvania County in 1720, the
whole country west of the Blue Ridge was considered as
embraced within its limits, until the -formation of Orange
County, in 1734. From this date the Valley sections and
adjacent regions to the west continued a part of Orange till
1738, when the country west of the Blue Ridge was divided
into Frederick and Augusta. The establishment of these two
counties was provided for by an Act of Assembly of No-
vember, 1738; but the two districts were to remain parts of
Orange County until the Governor and Council should decide
that the number of inhabitants was sufficient to warrant the
establishment of courts and the appointment of justices.® It
will be recalled, however, that as early as 1734 Jost Hite and
others had been appointed magistrates for the regulation of
local questions west of the mountains. In 1739 a petition
was presented to Governor Gooch from the lower Valley,
setting forth the hardships of going all the way, in some
cases as far as a hundred miles, to Orange Court House to
transact legal business, and praying that “ye sd: County of
Frederica may immediately take place.”> To this petition
~was appended a list of fifty-two names® But it was not

1. Hening's Statutes, Vol. 5, pp. 78, 79.
2. Palmer’s Calendar, Vol. I, p. 233.

3. Possibly there were only 47 names. Palmer gives only two,
those of Henry TFunk and John Little, saying that there were fifty
others. By the kindness of Dr. H. J. Eckenrode, Archivist, Virginia
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until 1743 that the request of the petitioners was complied
with: the first session of court being held in Frederick County
on November 11, 1743.* Courts were established in Augusta
County in 1745.

In September, 1744, an Act was passed providing for the
surveying of the line between Frederick and Augusta, and
for dividing the cost of the work between the citizens of the
two districts.” Frederick embraced all that is now Shenan-
doah, with a part of Page; Warren, Clarke, Frederick; and
the West Virginia counties of Jefferson, Berkeley, Hamp-
shire, and a part of Hardy. Augusta embraced Rockingham,
with parts of Hardy, Pendleton, and Page; as well as the
counties of Rockbridge, Botetourt, and the great country

State Library, I am enabled to present the entire list of petitioners,
excepting one or two, as follows:
Henry Funk
John Little

Jno. Hackman
Jacob Hackman, Jr.

John Crowsson
Tho. TFoster
Charles Baker
John Downton
Robert Mcfaison
Thomas Hankins

Robert Mackay, Junr.

John Branson

John Flemingway
John Willcocks
Jacob Funk

John Funk

John F. Funk, Jun.
Peter Stouffer
Jacob F. Funk, Jun.

Honny F. Funk, Jun,

Adem Funk
Dellinger
Frederick Dellinger
Geo. Dellinger, Jun.
Jacob Hackman
Peter Bowman '

4. West Virginia Historical Magazine, Vol. 2, No. 2, p. 20.
5. Hening’s Statutes, Vol. 5, p. 275.

John Denton
Richd Tidwe'l (?)
Christian Blank
Joseph Ballinger
Isaac Parkins
Wm. McMachen
John Hardin
Meredith

Lewis Neill
John Lintey
John Neill

Jonas Lum
Johin Bowker
John Vane
Charles Handgin
Isaac Foster

———— Swearingen
Ralph Orefe (?)
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west, as far as anyone cared to venture. In November, 1753,
an Act of Assembly provided for the erection of Hampshire
County from Frederick and Augusta.® In February, 1772,
Frederick County was further divided, and from it were
erected the new counties of Berkeley and Dunmore, both of
which were to be organized from May 15, 17727 Owing
to the disfavor that Lord Dunmore brought upon himself
early in the Revolutionary struggle, the people of Dunmore
County would no longer endure the name. By an Act of
Assembly of October, 1777, the name was to be changed to
“Shanando” from and after February 1, 17788 “Shanando”
came in time to be “Shenandoah.” In October, 1777, Rock-
ingham County and Parish were formed from Augusta; in
Qctober, 1785, Hardy was formed from Hampshire; and in
October, 1787, Pendleton was formed from Augusta, Hardy,
and Rockingham.” Although the counties of Hampshire,
Hardy, and Pendleton are beyond the Shenandoah Valley, a
notice of their formation is included here for the reason that
by virtue of their adjacent position on the west of Frederick,
Shenandoah, and Rockingham, they received a considerable
influx of the German settlers of the Valley.

A number of abstracts from the county records of Orange,
Frederick, and Augusta, for the years beginning with 1735
and ending with 1755, will now be presented in chronological
order. These are deemed valuable in our study for different
reasons, historical and genealogical. They have been pre-
pared chiefly from the deed books, and will therefore not
only supply the names of many of the German families that
located and purchased lands in the various sections during
the several years up to the French and Indian War, but will
also furnish material for an economic study in the progress

6. Idem, Vol, 6, p. 376.

7. Idem, Vol. 8, pp. 597, 598.

8. Idem, Vol. 9, p. 424,

9. Idem, p. 420; Vol. 12, pp. 86, 87; 637, G33.
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of land values during the period covered. It should be borne
in mind, however, that the items here given are selected from
a greater number, especially in the years immediately pre-
ceding and following 1740; and therefore do not afford a
safe basis for comparing one year with another in respect to
the rate of German immigration.

1735.

From Orange County Deed Book No. 1.

July 14, 15:°—Henry Willis sells to Jacob Funks for
£100 5s.t 2030 A., commonly called Stony Lick, on Tumb-
ling Run, on the N. side of the N. Branch of Sherando:
granted to Henry Willis, Aug. 21, 1734.

Sept. 17:—Jacob Stover (his mark) sells to Christian
Clemon for £28 5s. 550 A., on a small run, on the S. side of
Gerundo River, adjoining the upper corner of Stover’s lower
5000 A. tract.—Witnesses, G. Home (?), Thomas Hill, W.
Russell,

Nov. 10, 11:—Jacob Stover (Stauber) sells for £29 5s.,
Pennsylvania money, to George Boone two tracts of land,
500 A. and 1000 A., ‘situate near the end of the North Moun-
tain, so-called, on a small branch of Sherrando River’: part
of 5000 A. laid out for Stauber by the Va. Council, June 17,
1730.—Witnesses, Mordecai Simon, S. Hughes.—Boone was
from Oley, Pa. Boone’s Run, which heads in Peaked Mt.,
runs east, and flows into the Shen. R. about 2 miles helow
Elkton, was probably named after him.

Dec. 15, 16:—Jacoh Stover sells to Ludwick Stone for £84
5s. three tracts of land, 400 A., 400 A., 300 A., on Gerundo
River.

10. The double dates are owing to the legal requirements of the
time. Upon the first date the parcel of ground was leased, usually
for a year; upon the next day the “release” was given, and “use”
was transferred into “possession.”

11, The sum of 5 shillings is in almost every case the “considera-
tion” in the carlier instrument—the “lease.”
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Dec. 15, 16:—Jacob Stover sells to Mathias Selser for £41
Ss. three tracts of land, 200 A., 200 A., 100 A., on Gerundo
River.

Dec. 15, 16:—Jacob Stover sells to John Prupecker (Bru-
baker) of Pa., for £41 5s., two tracts of land: 300 A. on the
N. side of Gerundo River, adjoining Mathias Selser; 200 A.
on Gerundo River.—Witnesses, John Bramham, Gideon
Marr, William Ferrell.

Dec. 15, 16:—]Jacob Stover sells to Abraham Strickler of
Pa., for £84 5s., 1000 A. at “Mesenuttin on Gerundo,” ap-
parently on the N. side of the river.

Dec. 15, 16:—Jacob Stover sells to Henry Sowter (?) for
£15 5s. 300 A. on the S. side of Gerundo, near the mouth of
Mesenuttin Creek,

1736.
From Orange County Deed Book No. 1.

Feb. 23, 24 :—Ludwig Stein (Stone) sells to Michael Cry-
ter of Pa., for £100 5s., three tracts of land, 217 A., 200 A.,
100 A., on Gerundo R.—Witnesses, Gideon Marr (perhaps
Morc), John Newport—For the sake of the names of per-
sons and places, the description of these lots is copied below :

Three parcels or tracts of land situate lying & being on Gerundo
River. The first tract contains 200 acres & lies on the South side
Gerundo between Matthias Selser & Michael Coffman. The other

tract is the uppermost of the Mesenutten Lotts and joins at the
upper side of Martin Coffman’s upper tract and contains 200 acres.

“The other picce lies near Elk Lick on ye north Side Gerundo ad-

joining to Martin Coffman and John Prupecker.—(From the Lease.)

The next tract [the second] begins at the uppermost corner of
Stover’s survey and runeth from the river N 5 E 490 poles to ye
uppermost corner at the mountain thence N 80 E 48 poles to two
corner white oaks & ash thence S 7 E 540 poles to river thence up
ve sd River to the beginning., The third tract is an hundred acre
tract adjoining to Martin Coffman’s tract at Elk Lick and Pru-
pecker’s lower tract—(From the Release. There appear to be a few
discrepancies in the statements of quantity.)

Feb. 23:—Ludowick Stein sells to Michael Coffman for
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£40 5s. 217 A. on Gerundo R.: part of the land formerly
granted to Jacob Stover.

Mar. 20, 21 :—Jost Hite sells to Christian Niswanger for
£16 435 A. on the W. side of Sherrendo: part of 3395 A.
granted to Hite, June 12, 1734.

Mar. 23, 24:—]Jost Hite sells to Stephen Hunsenbella for
£14 5s. 450 A. on the W. side of Shen. R., on Opeckon
Creek, near the head thereof: part of 5012 A. granted to
Hite, Oct. 3, 1734.

Mar. 23:—Jost Hite sells to John Van Metre for £205
475 A. on Opeckon Creek: part of the tract “on which John
Selbour [?] lives.”

Mar. 25, 26:—]Jost Hite, Gentleman, and Mary his wife
sell to Robert Dwarfe for £7 15s. 300 A. on the W. side of
Sherrendo R., on a branch of the said river running into the
N. Branch thereof at a place called the Long Meadow: part
of 2160 A. granted to Hite, Oct. 3, 1734.

Sept. 20, 21:12—Jacob Stover sells to Peter Bowman for
£30 5s. 400 A. on the W. side of Sherundo R.: part of 5000
A. granted to Jacob Stover: likewise the part that the said
Stover then lived on.—Witnesses, G. Lightfoot, Thomas
Nicholls.

Sept. 25, 26:—Henry Sowter sells to Ludwig Stine for
£25 5s. about 300 A. on the S. (?) side of Gerundo R.—This
is likely the same tract that Sowter bought of Jacob Stover,
Dec. 15, 1735, for £15 5s. If so, he sold at a gain of over
65 per cent. in less than a year.

1737.
From Orange County Deed Books 1 and 2.

Feb. 15, 16:—Jacob Funck sells to John Funck of Lan-
caster Co., Pa., for £18 5s., 180 A. on the N. W. side of

12. Hon. J. A. Waddell’s statement, p. 28, Annals of Augusta,
“The first allusion in the records of Orange to Valley people is
under date of July 20, 1736, is evidently a mistake; since all the
entries thus far are earlier than that date.
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Shen. R., the N. Branch thereof, near a place called Stony
Lick: part of a tract of 2030 A. granted to Henry Willis,
Aug. 20, 1734, and sold to Jacob Funk.—Witnesses, John
Smith, John Hite.—This item may belong to the year 1736.
In the record the date appears to be written 1734; but this
is evidently not correct, since Jacob Funk did not buy the
tract of 2030 A. from Willis till July 14, 15, 1735.

Feb. 23, 24:—Ludwig Stein sells to Martin Coffman of
Pa., for £200 5s., three tracts of land: 300 A. on the S. side
of Shen. R.; 217 A. on the N. side; 100 A. on the N. side
of Gerundo at Elk Lick, part of 200 A. granted to Stone by
Jacob Stover.

Mar. 25, 26:—]Jost and Mary Hite sell to Lewis Stussy (?)
for £10 5s. 339 A. on the W. side of Shen. R., near the head
of Crooked Run.

May 23, 26:—William Russell, Gent., sells to Christian
Bowman, Farmer, for £47 10s., 675 A. on the S. side of the
N. River Sherundore, at the mouth of a run.

Oct. 22:—Peter Bowman sells to Christian Redlicksberger
for £30 5s. 400 A. on Shen. R.

1738.

From County Records of Orange and Augusta.

Feb. 22, 23:—William Russell sells to John Funks for
£21 5s. 320 A. on the E. side of the N. River Shenandoare,
adjoining Christian Bowman.—Orange County Deed Book
No. 2, pp. 222-228 (O C D B 2—222-228.

Mar. 20, 21:—Jacob Stover sells to Christopher Franciski
for £350 5s. 3000 A., with the mansion house, adjoining Peter
Bowman on the river: part of 5000 A. patented to Jacob
Stover, Dec. 15, 1733.—0 C D B 2—-229-232.

Mar. 21:—TJacob Stover and wife Margaret give bond to
Christopher Franciski for £700. The same year they give
Franciski another bond for £1000. They mortgage 5000 A.
on both sides of Shen. R.—O C D B 2—233, 234.
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Mar. 22, 23:—Ludwig Stein sells to Philip Long (who
signs in German) for £100 5s. two tracts of land, 205 A.
and 800 A., on Shen. R.—Witnesses, John Newport, Chris-
tian Kleman.—0 C D B 2—260.

May 24, 25:—Jacob Funk sells to John Funk for £18 5s.
180 A—O C D B 2—343.

Dec. 13:—Jacob Stover obtains a grant of 800 A—
Augusta Co. Deed Bool 4, pp. 58, 63, etc.—This land was on
the S. Shenmandoah, below Port Republic, and was at least in
part on the S. side of the river, opposite the “Great Island.”
This island, containing about 60 A., was hought of the Fran-
ciscos on Aug. 31, 1751, by Thomas Lewis. Two days
earlier, Aug. 28, 1751, Lewis had bought of the Franciscos
a tract of 470 A., on the S. side of the river, part of the 800
A. tract granted to Stover in 1738.—4 C D B 4—58-62; etc.

1739.

Mar. 26:—Jost Hite, Robert McKay, William Duff, and
Robert Green secure a grant of 7009 A. in the present county
of Rockingham.—A C D B 1—103-106.

This was the year in which Peter Ruffner obtained, through
his father-in-law Steinman, his large estate on the Hawks-
bill. When he settled there in 1739 some of the other Ger-
mans in the neighborhood were, the Stovers, Stricklers,
Rollers, Heistands, and Beidlers.?® The Ruffner name occurs
frequently in the Frederick County records.

1740.
July 23, 24:—Mathias Elser (Selser) sells to Jacob Neglee
200 A. in the Massanutting tract.—4 C D B 2—792-795.
1741.

Mar. 22:—]Jacob Stover, Jr., with Henry Downs and Jacoly
Castle as sureties, gives bond and qualifies as administrator
of the estate of Jacob Stover, dec’d—0 C W B 1—140.

13. West Virginia Historical Magazine, Vol. I, No. 2, pp. 31, 32.
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1742
Oct. 20, 21:—Jost Hite sells to John Painter 189 A. on
the N. side of Shen. R.—F C D B 2—324.

1743.

Mar. 1:—Charles Baker,'* Planter, sells to Samuel Earle
for £5 25 A. on the E. side of Crooked Run in Frederick
County: land bought by Baker of John Branson; by Bran-
son of Jost Hite—F C D B 1—42.

1744,
From Frederick County Deed Book No. 1.
Jan. 15, 16:—]John Funk, Sr., sells to Martin Funk'® for

14. Most of the well known Baker families of Frederick County
are of German ancestry. Several generations ago the name was
frequently written “Becker.”

15. Martin TFunk was probably the son of John Funk, Sr.; and the
latter was likely a brother to Jacob Funk, Sr. (See F C D B 1 and
FCWB1

On November 14, 1906, the writer made what may perhaps be a
discovery, in a small way, in the Mt. Hebron Cemetery at Win-
chester. Upon previous visits he had had the grave of George
Becker (July 1%, 1763-May —, 1790), son of Henrich Becker, pointed
out to him as the oldest marked grave in the cemetery; but upon
the above date he found, three feet to the east of Becker's grave, an
older one—that of Martin Funk. Funk’'s grave is marked by a low,
thick, dark stone, sunk low into the turf; and far down in the thick
grass is this inscription:

Here
Lays the body of
Martin Funk
Who ended his Pil-
grim life Octo. 5
1777 old [?] 54 v.

This grave, therefore, is 13 years older than that of George Becker.
If this Martin Funk was, as is likely, the one who bought the 170
acres of land in January, 1744, he was at that time about 21 years
old. The graves of Funk and Becker lie close to the entrance
lodge, and are about 60 yards southwest of the ruin of the old
Lutheran church and the tomb of Chris